

## Derivation of the magnetic Euler-Heisenberg energy

Philippe Gravejat, Mathieu Lewin, Eric Séré

## ▶ To cite this version:

Philippe Gravejat, Mathieu Lewin, Eric Séré. Derivation of the magnetic Euler-Heisenberg energy. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 2018, 117, pp.59-93. 10.1016/j.matpur.2017.07.015 . hal-01270637v3

# HAL Id: hal-01270637 https://hal.science/hal-01270637v3

Submitted on 9 Jun2017

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

## DERIVATION OF THE MAGNETIC EULER-HEISENBERG ENERGY

### PHILIPPE GRAVEJAT, MATHIEU LEWIN, AND ÉRIC SÉRÉ

ABSTRACT. In quantum field theory, the vacuum is a fluctuating medium which behaves as a nonlinear polarizable material. In this article, we perform the first rigorous derivation of the magnetic Euler-Heisenberg effective energy, a nonlinear functional that describes the effective fluctuations of the quantum vacuum in a classical magnetic field.

We start from a classical magnetic field in interaction with a quantized Dirac field in its ground state, and we study a limit in which the classical magnetic field is slowly varying. After a change of scales, this is equivalent to a semi-classical limit  $\hbar \rightarrow 0$ , with a strong magnetic field of order  $1/\hbar$ . In this regime, we prove that the energy of Dirac's polarized vacuum converges to the Euler-Heisenberg functional. The model has ultraviolet divergences, which we regularize using the Pauli-Villars method. We also discuss how to remove the regularization of the Euler-Heisenberg effective Lagrangian, using charge renormalization, perturbatively to any order of the coupling constant.

## Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Main results	5
2.1. The Pauli-Villars-regulated vacuum energy	5
2.2. Derivation of the Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy	7
2.3. Charge renormalization & the Euler-Heisenberg energy	9
2.4. The semi-classical limit	11
3. Proof of Theorem 2	13
4. Computation for a constant field: proof of Proposition 16	26
5. Bound on the error term: proof of Proposition 17	27
Appendix A. The Pauli operator with constant magnetic field	32
References	35

## 1. INTRODUCTION

In quantum field theory, the vacuum is a fluctuating medium which behaves as a nonlinear polarizable material [11, 21, 68]. A convenient way of describing these effects is to use an *effective action*. In Quantum Electrodynamics (QED), this method corresponds to integrating out the electronic degrees of freedom in the full QED functional integral [58, Chap. 33]. The effective action is a function of a *classical* electromagnetic field treated as an

Date: June 9, 2017.

external one. In the case of a *constant* electromagnetic field, the effective action has a rather simple explicit expression. This effective *Euler-Heisenberg* Lagrangian has been used to make spectacular predictions [58, 13]. For instance, the birefringence of the vacuum that was predicted by this theory has only been confirmed recently [54, 22].

For time-independent fields in the Coulomb gauge, the effective Lagrangian action has been rigorously defined in [28]. It takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}(\boldsymbol{A}) := -\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) + e \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( j_{\text{ext}}(x) \cdot A(x) - \rho_{\text{ext}}(x) V(x) \right) dx + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( |E(x)|^2 - |B(x)|^2 \right) dx$$
(1)

and gives rise to nonlinear and nonlocal corrections to the classical linear Maxwell equations

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta V = 4\pi e \left( \rho_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) + \rho_{\text{ext}} \right), \\ -\Delta A = 4\pi e \left( j_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) + j_{\text{ext}} \right), \\ \text{div} \ A = \text{div} \ j_{\text{ext}} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2)

Here e is the elementary charge of an electron,  $\mathbf{A} := (V, A)$  is a classical,  $\mathbb{R}^4$ -valued, electromagnetic potential, with corresponding field

$$\mathbf{F} = (E, B) = (-\nabla V, \operatorname{curl} A),$$

and  $\rho_{\text{ext}}$  and  $j_{\text{ext}}$  are given external charge and current densities. The vacuum charge  $\rho_{\text{vac}}(e\mathbf{A})$  and current  $j_{\text{vac}}(e\mathbf{A})$  densities are nonlinearly induced by the electron-positron vacuum according to the formulae

$$e\rho_{\mathrm{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) := \frac{\partial}{\partial V} \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}), \quad \mathrm{and} \quad ej_{\mathrm{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) := -\frac{\partial}{\partial A} \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}),$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(eA)$  is the energy of a quantized Dirac field in the external fourpotential A, assumed to be in its ground state.

The nonlinear vacuum correction terms  $\rho_{\text{vac}}(eA)$  and  $j_{\text{vac}}(eA)$  are negligible in normal conditions and they only start to play a significant role for very large electromagnetic fields. The critical value at which this starts to happen is called the *Schwinger limit* and it is several orders of magnitude above what can now be produced in the laboratory. The detection of these nonlinear effects is nevertheless a very active area of experimental research [3, 56]. In addition, these terms are known to play an important role in neutron stars with extremely high magnetic fields (magnetars) [2, 51, 7]. The observation of this effect has been announced very recently [54]. The equations (2) do not seem to have attracted much attention on the mathematical side.

The exact vacuum energy  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\mathbf{A})$  is a very complicated nonlocal functional of  $\mathbf{A}$  which, in addition, has well-known divergences. Its precise definition will be recalled in Section 2.1 below. A simple and useful approximation, often used in the Physics literature, consists in replacing the complicated functional  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\mathbf{A})$  by a superposition of *local* independent problems, that is,

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) \simeq \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{E}(x), e\boldsymbol{B}(x)) \, dx \tag{3}$$

where  $f_{\text{vac}}(eE, eB)$  is the energy per unit volume, found for an electromagnetic field  $\mathbf{F} = (E, B)$  which is constant everywhere in space (hence for a linear electromagnetic potential  $\mathbf{A}$ ). Our purpose in this article is to justify the approximation (3) in a limit where the electromagnetic field  $\mathbf{F}$  is slowly varying.

The (appropriately renormalized) function  $f_{\text{vac}}(eE, eB)$  has been computed by Euler and Heisenberg in a famous article [38] and it is given by the expression

$$f_{\text{vac}}(eE, eB) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \frac{e^{-sm^2}}{s^3} \left( \frac{e^2 s^2}{3} \left( |E|^2 - |B|^2 \right) - 1 + e^2 s^2 \left( E \cdot B \right) \frac{\text{Re } \cosh\left( es\left( |B|^2 - |E|^2 + iE \cdot B \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)}{\text{Im } \cosh\left( es\left( |B|^2 - |E|^2 + iE \cdot B \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)} \right) ds. \quad (4)$$

Here m is the mass of the electron and we work in a system of units such that the reduced Planck constant  $\hbar$  and the speed of light c are equal to 1. An alternative computation of the Euler-Heisenberg formula (4) has been discussed later by Weisskopf [68] and Schwinger [59]. For weak fields the leading correction to the usual Maxwell Lagrangian is given by

$$f_{\rm vac}(eE, eB) = -\frac{e^4}{360\pi^2 m^4} \left( (|E|^2 - |B|^2)^2 + 7(E \cdot B)^2 \right) + o(|E|^4 + |B|^4).$$

This expression has a form similar to the first-order Born-Infeld theory [42, 43] and it has played an important role in the understanding of nonlinear effects on the propagation and dispersion of light [41, 55, 52, 44].

It is well-known that the Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy in formula (4) has to be handled with care, since the integrand may have poles on the real line. The proper definition requires to replace s by  $s + i\eta$  and to take the limit  $\eta \to 0$  [59, 40]. The function  $f_{\text{vac}}(eE, eB)$  defined in this way may have an exponentially small non-zero imaginary part, which is interpreted as the electron-positron pair production rate and corresponds to the instability of the vacuum (see [31, Paragraph 7.3] and [13, 40, 14, 15]). However, under the additional constraints that  $E \cdot B = 0$  and |E| < |B|, then there is no pole, the integral in (4) converges absolutely and the vacuum energy  $f_{\text{vac}}(eE, eB)$  is real, as expected. In particular, this is the case for a purely magnetic field,  $E \equiv 0$ , that will be the object of our paper.

The purely magnetic case has been particularly discussed in the Physics literature [1, 6, 66, 67, 53]. The corresponding energy is independent of the direction of the magnetic field B and simplifies to

$$f_{\rm vac}(0,eB) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \frac{e^{-sm^2}}{s^3} \left( es|B| \coth\left(es|B|\right) - 1 - \frac{e^2s^2|B|^2}{3} \right) ds.$$
(5)

This function is concave-decreasing and negative, which corresponds to the usual picture that, after renormalization, the vacuum polarization *enhances* an external field instead of screening it as one would have naturally expected

at first sight. As an illustration, the function behaves as

$$f_{\rm vac}(0, eB) \sim \begin{cases} -\frac{e^4}{360\pi^2 m^4} |B|^4 & \text{for } |B| \to 0, \\ -\frac{e^2 |B|^2}{24\pi^2} \log\left(\frac{e|B|}{m^2}\right) & \text{for } |B| \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(6)

Note that the energy diverges faster than  $|B|^2$  at infinity. The total energy

$$\frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |B(x)|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_{\text{vac}}(0, e|B(x)|) \, dx$$

is unbounded from below. The implications of this instability for strong magnetic fields were studied by Haba in [33, 34]. The instability of the model is due to charge renormalization.

The function  $|B| \mapsto f_{\text{vac}}(0, eB)$  has a non-convergent Taylor series in powers of B. In fact, the series is

$$\frac{m^4}{8\pi^2} \sum_{n \ge 2} \frac{\mathcal{B}_{2n}}{2n(2n-1)(2n-2)} \left(\frac{2e|B|}{m^2}\right)^{2n}$$

and the Bernoulli numbers

$$\mathcal{B}_{2n} = (-1)^{n+1} \frac{(2n)!}{(2\pi)^{2n}} \zeta(2n)$$

(with  $\zeta$  the Riemann zeta function) diverge extremely fast. This phenomenon has played an important historical role in quantum field theory, where perturbative arguments are often used. It can nevertheless be shown that  $f_{\text{vac}}(0, eB)$  is the Borel sum of its Taylor expansion [4].

Our main goal in this paper is to provide a rigorous derivation of the purely magnetic Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy in (5), starting from the vacuum energy  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}$  of a quantized Dirac field, in the regime where *B* varies slowly in space. To be more precise, we assume that the magnetic field takes the form  $B(\varepsilon x)$  with a fixed smooth function *B* (which corresponds to the strong magnetic potential  $A_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{-1}A(\varepsilon x)$ ) and then look at the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . The expectation is that the vacuum energy is locally given by the Euler-Heisenberg formula, leading to the limit

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm vac}(0, eA_{\varepsilon}) \underset{\varepsilon \to 0}{\sim} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_{\rm vac}(0, eB(\varepsilon x)) \, dx = \varepsilon^{-3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_{\rm vac}(0, eB(x)) \, dx.$$
(7)

After a change of scale, the problem coincides with a semiclassical limit  $\hbar = \varepsilon \to 0$  with a very strong magnetic field of order  $B \sim 1/\hbar$ . This magnetic field strength is critical: any  $B \ll 1/\hbar$  would disappear in the leading order of the semi-classical limit. Here *B* does contribute, and deriving the exact form of the energy is a very delicate matter. This regime of strong magnetic fields has been the object of several recent studies in different situations [48, 26, 64, 70, 16, 17, 18, 19, 24, 23, 25, 39], none of them covering the continuous spectrum of the Dirac operator, to our knowledge. A result similar to (7) has recently been obtained in the simpler case of a scalar field in [45], which is a more conventional semiclassical limit.

In addition to the criticality of the magnetic field strength, we have to face the other difficulty that the vacuum energy  $\mathcal{F}_{vac}$  has divergences that must be regularized. Different regularization schemes are possible. In this article we use the Pauli-Villars method as in [28] and obtain a result similar to (7), with a Pauli-Villars-regulated function  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(0, eB)$ . An advantage of the regularized model is that it is *stable*, contrary to the original Euler-Heisenberg  $f_{\rm vac}(0, eB)$ . After charge renormalization, the function  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(0, eB)$  coincides with  $f_{\rm vac}(0, eB)$  up to an exponentially small error, but the model becomes unstable.

In the next section we properly define the Dirac vacuum energy  $\mathcal{F}_{vac}$  using the Pauli-Villars scheme, before we are able to state our main results.

## 2. Main results

2.1. The Pauli-Villars-regulated vacuum energy. We start by recalling the definition of the Pauli-Villars-regulated vacuum energy [57] which was rigorously studied in [28] (see also [27, 47]).

The vacuum energy  $\mathcal{F}_{vac}(e\mathbf{A})$  in (1) is given by the *formal* expression

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) := -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left| D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}} \right|.$$
(8)

In this formula,

$$D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}} := \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \left( -i\,\nabla - eA \right) + eV + m\,\boldsymbol{\beta},\tag{9}$$

is the Dirac operator for one electron in the classical electromagnetic field  $\mathbf{A} = (V, A_1, A_2, A_3)$  [65, 20], a self-adjoint operator acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ . The four Dirac matrices  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\boldsymbol{\alpha}_1, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_2, \boldsymbol{\alpha}_3)$  and  $\boldsymbol{\beta}$  are given by

$$oldsymbol{lpha}_k := egin{pmatrix} 0 & oldsymbol{\sigma}_k \ oldsymbol{\sigma}_k & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad ext{and} \quad oldsymbol{eta} := egin{pmatrix} I_2 & 0 \ 0 & -I_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

with Pauli matrices  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2$  and  $\sigma_3$  equal to

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_1 := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{\sigma}_2 := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } \boldsymbol{\sigma}_3 := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The Dirac matrices satisfy the following anti-commutation relations

$$\alpha_j \alpha_k + \alpha_k \alpha_j = 2\delta_{j,k} I_4, \quad \alpha_j \beta + \beta \alpha_j = 0, \text{ and } \beta^2 = I_4.$$
 (10)

The trace in (8) means that all the negative energy states are filled by virtual electrons, according to Dirac's picture [8, 9, 10, 12, 11]. The operator

$$-\frac{1}{2}|D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}}| = D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}}\frac{\mathbb{1}(D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}} \le 0) - \mathbb{1}(D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}} \ge 0)}{2}$$

in the trace arises from the constraint that the system must be chargeconjugation invariant. We refer to [36, 28] for detailed explanations.

Of course, the trace in (8) is infinite. In order to give a proper meaning to  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\mathbf{A})$ , we start by subtracting an infinite constant, namely the free vacuum energy corresponding to  $\mathbf{A} \equiv 0$  given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm vac}(0) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left| D_{m,0} \right|.$$

We therefore consider the relative vacuum energy

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) - \mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}(0) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left( \left| D_{m,0} \right| - \left| D_{m,e\boldsymbol{A}} \right| \right).$$
(11)

Removing an (infinite) constant does not change the variational problem in which we are interested, as well as the resulting equations. For most electromagnetic potentials A, however, the relative vacuum energy in (11) is not yet well defined due to ultraviolet divergences. This additional difficulty can be overcome by applying a suitable regularization. Various methods are employed in the literature, among which are the famous dimensional regularization [32] and the lattice regularization [69]. Here we are going to use the Pauli-Villars method [57] which was studied in [28]. This technique consists in adding fictitious particles with high masses  $m_j \gg 1$  in the model. These particles have no physical significance, but their introduction provides an ultraviolet regularization, which is sufficient to rigorously define the vacuum energy. More precisely, we consider the so-called Pauli-Villars-regulated vacuum energy given by the formula

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \left( \left| D_{m_j,0} \right| - \left| D_{m_j,e\boldsymbol{A}} \right| \right).$$
(12)

In this expression, the coefficient  $c_0$  and the mass  $m_0$  are respectively equal to 1 and m. The corresponding term is exactly the relative vacuum energy in (11). The ultraviolet divergences are removed if the coefficients  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ satisfy the Pauli-Villars conditions

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j m_j^2 = 0, \qquad (13)$$

which amounts to choosing them as

$$c_1 = -\frac{m_2^2 - m_0^2}{m_2^2 - m_1^2}$$
, and  $c_2 = \frac{m_1^2 - m_0^2}{m_2^2 - m_1^2}$ .

In the following we always assume that  $m = m_0 < m_1 < m_2$  for simplicity, hence  $c_1 < 0$  and  $c_2 > 0$ .

We now describe some known mathematical properties of  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}$ . Throughout the article we work in the electromagnetic field energy space, namely, we assume that  $E, B \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . This amounts to assuming that

$$V \in \dot{H}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) := \left\{ V \in L^{6}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{R}) : \|\nabla V\|_{L^{2}}^{2} < \infty \right\}$$

and

$$A \in \dot{H}^1_{\rm div}(\mathbb{R}^3) := \Big\{ A \in L^6(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3) \ : \ {\rm div}\, A = 0 \ \text{ and } \| \operatorname{curl} A \|_{L^2}^2 < \infty \Big\}.$$

The precise result proved in [28] is the following.

**Theorem 1** (Definition of  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}$  in energy space [28]). Assume that the coefficients  $c_0 = 1$ ,  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ , and the masses  $0 < m = m_0 < m_1 < m_2$  satisfy the Pauli-Villars conditions (13).

(i) When  $V \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $A \in \dot{H}^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the operator

$$T_{\mathbf{A}} := \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \left| D_{m_{j},0} \right| - \left| D_{m_{j},\mathbf{A}} \right| \right)$$
(14)

is compact.

(ii) When  $V \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{H}^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we have  $\operatorname{tr} |\operatorname{tr}_{\mathbb{C}^4} T_{\boldsymbol{A}}| < \infty$ , hence

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{vac}}^{\mathrm{PV}}(\boldsymbol{A}) := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left( \operatorname{tr}_{\mathbb{C}^4} T_{\boldsymbol{A}} \right)$$

is well-defined. Moreover,  $\mathcal{F}_{vac}^{PV}$  can be uniquely extended to a continuous mapping on  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{H}^1_{div}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

(iii) When V = 0, and  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{H}^1_{\operatorname{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the operator  $T_{0,A}$  is traceclass on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4)$ , that is,  $\operatorname{tr} |T_{0,A}| < \infty$ , hence  $\mathcal{F}^{\operatorname{PV}}_{\operatorname{vac}}(0, A) = \operatorname{tr}(T_{0,A})/2$ .

The result says that the vacuum energy  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(\mathbf{A})$  is well defined by a trace (possibly first doing the  $\mathbb{C}^4$  trace), when A and V are smooth and integrable, and that it has a unique continuous extension to the energy space, still denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(\mathbf{A})$ . In the case  $V \neq 0$ , we do not believe the operator  $T_{\mathbf{A}}$  to be trace-class without taking first the  $\mathbb{C}^4$ -trace. But the terms in  $T_{\mathbf{A}}$ which are (possibly) not trace-class do not contribute to the final value of  $\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(\mathbf{A})$ , due to gauge-invariance.

With  $\mathcal{F}_{vac}^{PV}$  at hand, it is now possible to define the associated Lagrangian action, in external charge and current densities,

$$\mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{PV}}(\boldsymbol{A}) := -\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{vac}}^{\mathrm{PV}}(e\boldsymbol{A}) + e \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( j_{\mathrm{ext}}(x) \cdot A(x) - \rho_{\mathrm{ext}}(x)V(x) \right) dx + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left( |\nabla V(x)|^2 - |\operatorname{curl} A(x)|^2 \right) dx.$$
(15)

provided that div  $j_{\text{ext}} = 0$  and

$$\rho_{\text{ext}} * \frac{1}{|x|} \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3), \qquad j_{\text{ext}} * \frac{1}{|x|} \in \dot{H}^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

In [28] we have constructed the electromagnetic field  $\mathbf{F} = (E, B)$ , in presence of time-independent, weak enough, external charge density  $\rho_{\text{ext}}$  and current density  $j_{\text{ext}}$ , as a local min-max critical point of  $\mathcal{L}^{\text{PV}}$ . The corresponding four-potential  $\mathbf{A} = (V, A)$  satisfies the nonlinear Maxwell equations in (2). We refer to [28, 47, 27] for more details.

2.2. Derivation of the Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy. We now come to our rigorous derivation of the Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy in (5) starting from the Pauli-Villars-regulated vacuum energy.

As announced we restrict our attention to purely magnetic fields by setting

 $V \equiv 0.$ 

We next consider a scaled magnetic field of the form  $B_{\varepsilon}(x) = B(\varepsilon x)$ , with a given  $B = \operatorname{curl} A \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and  $A \in \dot{H}^1_{\operatorname{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Our main result requires a bit more regularity.

**Theorem 2** (Derivation of the Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy). Let  $B \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3)$  be such that div B = 0 and

$$B \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3), \qquad \nabla B \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^6(\mathbb{R}^3), \tag{16}$$

and let A be the associated magnetic potential in  $\dot{H}^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Set finally  $A_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{-1}A(\varepsilon x)$ . Then, we have

$$\varepsilon^{3} \mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(0, eA_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(e|B(x)|) \, dx + O(\varepsilon)$$
(17)

where

$$f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(b) := \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \left(\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j \, e^{-sm_j^2}\right) \left(sb \coth\left(sb\right) - 1\right) \frac{ds}{s^3} \tag{18}$$

### is the Pauli-Villars-regulated Euler-Heisenberg vacuum energy.

The theorem provides a limit in the same form as in (7), except that the effective energy  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(b)$  still depends on the regularization parameters  $c_1, c_2, m_1, m_2$ . In the next section we discuss the link with the original Euler-Heisenberg energy  $f_{\rm vac}$ . We remark that the function  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}$  is non-negative and behaves as

$$f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(eB) \sim \begin{cases} \frac{e^2|B|^2}{24\pi^2} \sum_{j=0}^2 c_j \log m_j^{-2} & \text{for } |B| \to 0, \\ \frac{e|B|}{8\pi^2} \sum_{j=0}^2 c_j m_j^2 \log m_j^2 & \text{for } |B| \to \infty, \end{cases}$$
(19)

where

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \log m_j^{-2} \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j m_j^2 \log m_j^2 \ge 0,$$

as we show in Lemma 11 below. Note that the field energy is of the same order  $\varepsilon^{-3}$  as the vacuum in this regime,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |B(\varepsilon x)|^2 \, dx = \varepsilon^{-3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |B(x)|^2 \, dx.$$

Therefore, in the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$  we get the effective local Lagrangian

$$-\varepsilon^{-3}\left(\frac{1}{8\pi}\int_{\mathbb{R}^3}|B(x)|^2\,dx+\int_{\mathbb{R}^3}f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(e|B(x)|)\,dx\right).$$

The two terms have the same sign, hence the corresponding model is *stable*, contrary to the renormalized functional based upon the Euler-Heisenberg function  $f_{\rm vac}$ .

**Remark 3.** The technical conditions on B in (16) are certainly not optimal. It would be interesting to prove (17) with  $O(\varepsilon)$  replaced by o(1), under the sole assumption that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(|B(x)|) dx < \infty$ . Due to (19), this condition is equivalent to

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{|B(x)|^2}{1+|B(x)|} \, dx < \infty.$$

2.3. Charge renormalization & the Euler-Heisenberg energy. The function  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}$  defined in (18) and obtained in the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$  is different from the Euler-Heisenberg energy  $f_{\rm vac}$ . In particular,  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}$  is positive convex increasing, whereas  $f_{\rm vac}$  is negative concave decreasing. The reason is that  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}$  does *not* include the quadratic term  $(sb)^2/3$  that is present in the formula (4) of  $f_{\rm vac}$ . Indeed, integrating by parts using the first Pauli-Villars condition in (13), we find

$$f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(b) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \left(\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j \, e^{-sm_j^2}\right) \left(sb \coth\left(sb\right) - 1 - \frac{(sb)^2}{3}\right) \frac{ds}{s^3} + \frac{b^2}{24\pi^2} \int_0^\infty \left(\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j \, e^{-sm_j^2}\right) \frac{ds}{s} = f_{\rm vac}(b) + c_1 \frac{m_1^4}{m^4} f_{\rm vac}\left(\frac{m^2}{m_1^2}b\right) + c_2 \frac{m_2^4}{m^4} f_{\rm vac}\left(\frac{m^2}{m_2^2}b\right) + \frac{\log(\Lambda)}{24\pi^2} b^2$$
(20)

where

$$f_{\rm vac}(b) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty e^{-m^2 s} \left( sb \coth\left(sb\right) - 1 - \frac{(sb)^2}{3} \right) \frac{ds}{s^3}$$

is the original Euler-Heisenberg energy with mass m, and where the averaged ultraviolet cut-off  $\Lambda > 1$  is defined by

$$\log \Lambda := -\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \, \log m_j > 0.$$
(21)

The second and third terms in (20) are small since

$$c_j \frac{m_j^4}{m^4} f_{\text{vac}}\left(\frac{m^2}{m_j^2}b\right) = O\left(\frac{|c_j|}{m_j^4}b^4\right), \qquad j = 1, 2$$

In particular, we can take  $m_1, m_2 \to \infty$  while keeping  $c_1, c_2$  bounded. However, the last term in (20) is logarithmically-divergent.

The correct way to remove the divergent term is to include it in the definition of the charge, a procedure called *charge renormalization*. Here we explain this procedure on the real function  $b \mapsto f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(eb)$ . By superposition, the same holds for the local function

$$B \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f_{\mathrm{vac}}^{\mathrm{PV}}(e|B(x)|) \, dx$$

obtained in the semi-classical limit. Following [37, 35, 29, 30], we define the physical charge  $e_{\rm ph}$  by

$$e_{\rm ph}^2 = \frac{e^2}{1 + \frac{2e^2}{3\pi} \log \Lambda},\tag{22}$$

and the physical magnetic field  $b_{\rm ph}$  by the relation

$$e b = e_{\rm ph} b_{\rm ph}.$$

It is convenient to introduce the renormalization parameter

$$Z_3 := \frac{1}{1 + \frac{2e^2}{3\pi} \log \Lambda} \in (0, 1)$$
(23)

in such a way that  $e_{\rm ph} = \sqrt{Z_3} e$  and  $b_{\rm ph} = \sqrt{Z_3} b$ .

We would like to take  $\Lambda \to \infty$ , which however imposes that

$$e_{\rm ph} \le \sqrt{\frac{3\pi}{2\log\Lambda}} \to 0.$$

It is not possible to remove the ultraviolet regularization and keep the physical charge  $e_{\rm ph}$  fixed, a phenomenon related to the Landau pole [46]. The best we can do is to fix  $e_{\rm ph}^2 \log \Lambda$ , which is equivalent to fixing  $Z_3$ , then let  $e_{\rm ph}$  go to zero and verify that the chosen value of  $Z_3$  does not appear in the perturbative series in  $e_{\rm ph}$  [30]. In this regime, our goal is to compare the total magnetic energy per unit volume

$$\frac{b^2}{8\pi} + f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(e\,b)$$

with the physical energy involving the Euler-Heisenberg magnetic energy

$$\frac{(b_{\rm ph})^2}{8\pi} + f_{\rm vac}(e_{\rm ph}\,b_{\rm ph}).$$

The following says that these two energies are exponentially close to each other in a neighborhood of 0. In particular, they have the same Taylor expansion at  $e_{\rm ph} = 0$  which, however, is divergent as we have recalled above.

**Theorem 4** (Renormalization of  $f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}$ ). We have for a universal constant K

$$\left| \frac{b^2}{8\pi} + f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(e\,b) - \frac{(b_{\rm ph})^2}{8\pi} - f_{\rm vac}(e_{\rm ph}\,b_{\rm ph}) \right| \\
\leq K |c_1| \left(\frac{e_{\rm ph}b_{\rm ph}}{m}\right)^4 \exp\left(-6\pi \frac{1-Z_3}{(e_{\rm ph})^2}\right). \quad (24)$$

*Proof.* Inserting (20) and using the definition of  $b_{\rm ph}$ , we see that the quadratic terms cancel exactly and therefore obtain

$$\frac{b^2}{8\pi} + f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(e\,b) - \frac{(b_{\rm ph})^2}{8\pi} - f_{\rm vac}(e_{\rm ph}\,b_{\rm ph}) = c_1 \frac{m_1^4}{m^4} f_{\rm vac} \left(\frac{m^2}{m_1^2}e^b\right) + c_2 \frac{m_2^4}{m^4} f_{\rm vac} \left(\frac{m^2}{m_2^2}e^b\right).$$
(25)

We set

$$K := \max_{x \ge 0} \frac{2m^4 |f_{\text{vac}}(x)|}{x^4}$$

Although  $f_{\text{vac}}$  depends on m, it can be seen that K is independent of m. We obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{b^2}{8\pi} + f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(e\,b) - \frac{(b_{\rm ph})^2}{8\pi} - f_{\rm vac}(e_{\rm ph}\,b_{\rm ph}) \right| &\leq \frac{K}{2} \left( -\frac{c_1}{(m_1)^4} + \frac{c_2}{(m_2)^4} \right) (e_{\rm ph}b_{\rm ph})^4 \\ &\leq \frac{K|c_1|}{(m_1)^4} (e_{\rm ph}b_{\rm ph})^4, \end{aligned}$$

since  $c_2 = -1 - c_1$  and  $m_1 < m_2$ . Recall that

$$\frac{3\pi}{2} \frac{1 - Z_3}{(e_{\rm ph})^2} = -\log \Lambda = \log m + c_1 \log m_1 + c_2 \log m_2$$
$$\geq \log m + (c_1 + c_2) \log m_1 = \log \frac{m}{m_1}$$

which gives us

$$\frac{1}{(m_1)^4} \le \frac{e^{-6\pi \frac{1-Z_3}{(e_{\rm ph})^2}}}{m^4}$$

and concludes the proof.

Our conclusion is that the Pauli-Villars-regulated function  $f_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}$  coincides with the original Euler-Heisenberg energy  $f_{\rm vac}$  to any order, after charge renormalization. It would be interesting to relate the original Dirac energy  $\mathcal{F}_{\rm vac}$  with  $f_{\rm vac}$  directly, by performing the charge renormalization at the same time as we take the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . We do not discuss this further, since this would force us to take  $e \to 0$ .

2.4. The semi-classical limit. Let us now explain the main ideas behind the convergence in (17). We stay here at a formal level. In the next section we give the detailed proof of Theorem 2, which takes a slightly different route. Using that

$$|D_{m,0,eA}|^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{P}_{eA} + m^2 & 0\\ 0 & \mathscr{P}_{eA} + m^2 \end{pmatrix} = (\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m^2) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$$
(26)

with V = 0 and where

$$\mathscr{P}_{eA} = \left(\sigma \cdot (-i\nabla + eA)\right)^2 = (-i\nabla + eA)^2 - e\,\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot B \tag{27}$$

is the Pauli operator, acting on 2-spinors, we can rewrite the vacuum energy as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{vac}}^{\mathrm{PV}}(0, eA_{\varepsilon}) = \mathrm{tr}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}^{2})} \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \sqrt{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2}} - \sqrt{\mathscr{P}_{eA_{\varepsilon}} + m_{j}^{2}} \right) \right\}.$$

Next we use the integral formula

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \sqrt{a+m_j^2} = -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^\infty \left(\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j e^{-sm_j^2}\right) e^{-sa} \frac{ds}{s^{3/2}},$$
 (28)

for  $a \ge 0$ , which is proved by an integration by parts. Note that the integral on the right converges at s = 0, thanks to the Pauli-Villars condition (13). We obtain

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{vac}}^{\mathrm{PV}}(0, eA_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \operatorname{tr}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}^{2})} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} e^{-sm_{j}^{2}}\right) \left(e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{eA_{\varepsilon}}} - e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{0}}\right) \frac{ds}{s^{3/2}}.$$

Exchanging the trace with the integral, we need an expansion in  $\varepsilon$  of  $\operatorname{tr}(e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{eA_{\varepsilon}}} - e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{0}})$ . Changing units, we recognize here a semi-classical limit. The idea is, therefore, to replace the trace by an integral over  $\mathbb{R}^{3}$ , of the value of this trace per unit volume for a constant field.

We recall that for a constant magnetic field B, the operator  $\mathscr{P}_{eA}$  commutes with the translations in the direction of B. For each value  $\xi$  of the momentum in this direction, the corresponding fiber Hamiltonian has the energy levels

$$(2n+1+\nu)e|B|+m^2+\xi^2$$

where  $n \ge 0$  is the index of the Landau band and  $\nu = \pm 1$  is the spin variable. These energies are infinitely degenerate with respect to the angular momentum along the field B. The number of states with fixed energy per unit area in the plane perpendicular to B is  $e|B|/(2\pi)$ . Semi-classical analysis then suggests that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{eA_{\varepsilon}}}-e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{0}}\right) \simeq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}\left\{\frac{e|B(\varepsilon x)|}{2\pi}\sum_{\nu=\pm1}\sum_{n\geq0}\int_{\mathbb{R}}e^{-s(2n+1+\nu)e|B(\varepsilon x)|}e^{-s\xi^{2}}\frac{d\xi}{2\pi} -2\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}e^{-s|p|^{2}}\frac{dp}{(2\pi)^{3}}\right\}dx.$$
(29)

Using  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-s|p|^2} dp = (\pi/s)^{d/2}$  and

$$\sum_{\nu=\pm 1} \sum_{n\geq 0} e^{-s(2n+1+\nu)e|B|} = (1+e^{-2s|B|}) \sum_{n\geq 0} e^{-2sne|B|} = \coth(es|B|),$$

we can compute the right side of (29) and obtain

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{eA_{\varepsilon}}}-e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{0}}\right) \simeq \frac{\varepsilon^{-3}}{4\pi^{3/2}s^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(es|B(x)|\operatorname{coth}(es|B(x)|)-1\right) dx.$$
(30)

Inserting in (29), this is exactly the limit (17) stated in Theorem 2.

There are serious technical difficulties in the rigorous justification of these arguments. The first is that the trace is everywhere formal, since the operators are usually not trace-class. When A is assumed to be integrable, the operators are trace-class and many of our arguments become simpler. But the integrability of A will fail for physically relevant magnetic fields. The second difficulty is of course the justification of the semi-classical limit (30), which involves the whole spectrum of the two Pauli operators and not only the negative eigenvalues.

In [33, 34], Haba has used the Feynman-Kac formula to study the limit of the kernel  $(e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{eA}} - e^{-s\mathscr{P}_0})(x, x)$  for large fields but he did not state the semi-classical limit (30). He also used the strong assumption that  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$  (see [33, Thm. 2]).

In the literature there are simple *variational* arguments (e.g. based on coherent states [49, 50, 62], including the case of magnetic fields [48, 26, 70, 17, 18, 19, 24, 23, 25]) which provide the first order semi-classical term. So far these seem to have been mainly used for eigenvalues and it is not clear how to adapt them to our particular limit (30) of a difference of two heat kernels. Instead, we will prove Theorem 2 using another integral representation which involves the resolvent of the two Pauli operators instead of their heat kernels, as in [28].

#### 3. Proof of Theorem 2

In this section we describe the main steps of the proof of Theorem 2. Some technical details will be provided later. Everywhere we use the simpler notation  $D_{m,A}$  instead of  $D_{m,0,A}$ , since there will be no electric potential V from now on.

Step 1: Estimates on A. We start with an elementary result which provides useful estimates on the magnetic potential A, for a magnetic field B which satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2.

**Lemma 5** (Estimates on A and its derivatives). Let  $B \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3)$  be such that div B = 0 and satisfying the assumptions (16) of Theorem 2. The magnetic potential

$$A(x) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{y}{|y|^3} \times B(x-y) \, dy = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{(\operatorname{curl} B)(x-y)}{|y|} \, dy \qquad (31)$$

is the unique potential in  $\dot{H}^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  such that B = curl A. It is in  $C^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and satisfies

$$\begin{cases} A \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3) & \text{for } 3/2$$

*Proof.* Since  $y|y|^{-3}$  is in  $L^{3/2}_w(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality gives that  $A \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for every  $3/2 . The case <math>p = \infty$  follows from the fact that  $y|y|^{-3} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) + L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $B \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Next we write

$$\begin{aligned} A(x) &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{1 - e^{-|y|}}{|y|} \operatorname{curl} B(x - y) \, dy + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{e^{-|y|}}{|y|} \operatorname{curl} B(x - y) \, dy \\ &= -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \nabla \left( \frac{1 - e^{-|y|}}{|y|} \right) \times B(x - y) \, dy + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{e^{-|y|}}{|y|} \operatorname{curl} B(x - y) \, dy. \end{aligned}$$

and obtain

$$\partial_j A(x) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \partial_j \nabla \left( \frac{1 - e^{-|y|}}{|y|} \right) \times B(x - y) \, dy \\ + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \partial_j \left( \frac{e^{-|y|}}{|y|} \right) \operatorname{curl} B(x - y) \, dy.$$

Since  $\partial_j \left( |y|^{-1} e^{-|y|} \right) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^{5/4}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $\operatorname{curl} B \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^5(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the second term is in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Similarly,  $\partial_j \nabla |y|^{-1} (1 - e^{-|y|}) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for all p > 1 and  $B \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$  so the first term is in  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for all p > 1.  $\Box$ 

Step 2: Expression in terms of the resolvent of the Pauli operator. Here we summarize some of the findings of [28] which are useful for the proof of the main theorem. Following [28], we use the integral representation

$$|x| = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{x^2}{x^2 + \omega^2} d\omega = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( 1 - \frac{\omega^2}{x^2 + \omega^2} \right) d\omega$$

which allows to express the operator  $T_{eA}$  as

$$T_{eA} = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \left( \left| D_{m_j,0} \right| - \left| D_{m_j,eA} \right| \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \left( \frac{1}{\left| D_{m_j,eA} \right|^2 + \omega^2} - \frac{1}{\left| D_{m_j,0} \right|^2 + \omega^2} \right) \omega^2 d\omega.$$
(32)

Using the two Pauli-Villars conditions in (13), a calculation gives the following useful formulas:

$$\forall x \ge 0, \qquad \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{x+m_j^2} = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \left( \frac{1}{x+m_j^2} - \frac{1}{x+m^2} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j (m_j^2 - m^2)^2 \frac{1}{(x+m_j^2)(x+m^2)^2}. \quad (33)$$

These formulas show how the Pauli-Villars conditions (13) allow to increase the decay at large momenta, since  $\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j (x+m_j^2)^{-1}$  now behaves like  $x^{-3}$  at infinity instead of  $x^{-1}$  for the unregularized resolvent  $(x+m^2)^{-1}$ . Using (33) and the bound  $|D_{m_j,eA}|^2 \ge m_j^2$  following from (26), we deduce that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \left( \frac{1}{\left| D_{m_j, eA} \right|^2 + \omega^2} - \frac{1}{\left| D_{m_j, 0} \right|^2 + \omega^2} \right) \right\| \le \frac{C}{(m^2 + \omega^2)^3}.$$

Therefore the integral in (32) converges in the operator norm. Using (26), we find that  $T_{eA}$  is block-diagonal in the two-spinor basis, which we can rewrite as

$$T_{eA} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^2 d\omega \sum_{j=0}^2 c_j \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_j^2 + \omega^2} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_0 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} \right) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$$

where  $\mathscr{P}_{eA}$  is the Pauli operator defined in (27). The integral representation used in the previous section has the nice feature that the regularization gives rise to the simple term  $\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j e^{-sm_j^2}$ . Here the regularization parameters cannot be separated from the other terms in the integral. Nevertheless, resolvents are simpler to handle and we will be able to apply several estimates proved in [28] in this setting.

To be more precise, it was proved in [28] that when  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap H^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and  $B \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the operator

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_j^2 + \omega^2} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_0 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} \right)$$

is trace-class and that the trace can be integrated over  $\omega$ :

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{tr} \left| \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right) \right| \omega^{2} d\omega < \infty$$

which then proved that  $T_{eA}$  is itself trace-class, as stated in Theorem 1. In our situation, we have  $B \in L^1 \cap L^\infty$  but A is not necessarily integrable, so the operator is not necessarily trace-class. However, the non-trace-class part is easy to extract and happens to be linear in A. This is the content of the following

**Proposition 6** (Extracting the non-trace-class part). We assume that B satisfies the conditions (16) of Theorem 2 and let A be the unique potential in  $H^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  such that B = curl A. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{tr} \left| \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right) \right| \omega^{2} d\omega < \infty \quad (34)$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(eA) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \text{tr} \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right) \right\} \omega^{2} d\omega, \quad (35)$$

where  $p := -i\nabla$ . If additionally  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , then

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}}\right\} = 0$$

for every  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ , where the operator in the trace is trace-class.

Note that  $p \cdot A + A \cdot p = 2p \cdot A = 2A \cdot p$  since div A = 0.

*Proof.* We only give a sketch of the proof, which relies on the techniques used in [28]. It is based on the 5th-order resolvent expansion

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{4} (-1)^{n} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} S_{eA} \right)^{n} \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}}$$

$$- \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} S_{eA} \right)^{5} \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}}$$

$$:= \sum_{n=1}^{4} T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega) + T_{eA}^{(5)}(\omega).$$
(36)

where the operator  $S_{eA}$  is defined by

$$S_{eA} := \mathscr{P}_{eA} - \mathscr{P}_0 = -e(p \cdot A + A \cdot p) + e^2 |A|^2 - eB \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}$$
(37)

$$= -e(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot p)(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot A) - e(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot A)(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot p) + e^2|A|^2.$$
(38)

We emphasize that  $T_{eA}^{(5)}(\omega)$  contains  $\mathscr{P}_{eA}$  in the last resolvent on the right, whereas  $T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega)$  has  $\mathscr{P}_0$  for  $n \leq 4$ . This should note generate any confusion, since we will never introduce  $T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega)$  for n > 5. For  $n \leq 5$ , it was proved in [28] that  $T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega)$  is trace-class, with

$$\int \operatorname{tr} \left| T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega) \right| \, \omega^2 d\omega < \infty$$

whenever  $A \in L^n(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{H}^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $B \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . From Lemma 5, we have  $A \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $B \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  hence only the first order term  $T^{(1)}_{eA}(\omega)$  is possibly not trace-class under the condition (16). All the other terms are trace-class. The term involving  $p \cdot A + A \cdot p$  which we have subtracted in the statement is exactly the non-trace-class part of  $T^{(1)}_{eA}$ , as we will explain below. Formula (35) follows from the continuity of  $\mathcal{F}^{\text{PV}}_{\text{vac}}$  in Theorem 1.

Let us briefly explain how to estimate  $T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega)$  using ideas from [28]. For the 5th order term, we use directly the Kato-Seiler-Simon inequality (see [61, Thm. 4.1])

$$\|g(-i\nabla)f(x)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_p} = \|f(x)g(-i\nabla)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_p} \le (2\pi)^{-\frac{3}{p}} \|f\|_{L^p} \|g\|_{L^p},$$
 (39)

which holds for any number  $p \geq 2$ , and any functions  $(f,g) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)^2$ . Here, the notation  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{S}_p}$  stands for the norm of the Schatten class  $\mathfrak{S}_p(L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4))$ . Using Hölder's inequality in Schatten spaces and the positivity of  $\mathscr{P}_{eA} \geq 0$ , we find

$$\left\| T_{eA}^{(5)}(\omega) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{1}} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{2} \frac{|c_{j}|}{m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \left\| \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} S_{eA} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{5}}^{5}$$

Here it is convenient to use that

...

$$S_{eA} = -2ep \cdot A + e^2 |A|^2 - eB \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}$$
<sup>(40)</sup>

since div A = 0. By the triangle inequality and the fact that  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{S}_p} \leq \|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{S}_q}$  for  $q \leq p$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_0 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} S_{eA} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_5} \\ &\leq 2e \left\| \frac{p}{p^2 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} \cdot A(x) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_5} + e^2 \left\| \frac{1}{p^2 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} |A(x)|^2 \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_3} \\ &\quad + e \left\| \frac{1}{p^2 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} |B(x)| \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_2} \\ &\leq \frac{e \|A\|_{L^5}}{(m_j^2 + \omega^2)^{1/5}} + \frac{e^2 \|A\|_{L^6}^2}{(m_j^2 + \omega^2)^{1/2}} + \frac{e \|B\|_{L^2}}{(m_j^2 + \omega^2)^{1/4}} \end{split}$$

which, by the Sobolev inequality, gives the final estimate

$$\left\| T_{eA}^{(5)}(\omega) \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{1}} \lesssim \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{2} |c_{j}|}{m^{2} + \omega^{2}} \left( \frac{e^{5} \left\| A \right\|_{H^{1}}^{5}}{m^{2} + \omega^{2}} + \frac{e^{10} \left\| A \right\|_{H^{1}}^{10}}{(m^{2} + \omega^{2})^{5/2}} \right)$$

and proves that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \|T_{eA}^{(5)}(\omega)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_1} \omega^2 d\omega < \infty$ , as we wanted.

The argument for the lower order terms  $T_{eA}^{(n)}(\omega)$  is slightly more complicated, since we need to use the Pauli-Villars condition (13) in order to increase the decay in momentum. Let us start with the proof for the first order term  $T_{eA}^{(1)}(\omega)$ . The idea is to insert the resolvent with the mass  $m = m_0$ using the Pauli-Villars conditions (13). For shortness, it is convenient to introduce the notation

$$K_j(\omega) := \mathscr{P}_0 + m_j^2 + \omega^2 = -\Delta + m_j^2 + \omega^2, \qquad (41)$$

for the Klein-Gordon operator. We then use the relation

$$-T_{eA}^{(1)}(\omega) = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)}$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)^{2}}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)}. \quad (42)$$

Arguing as before using the Kato-Seiler-Simon inequality (39), we obtain that the second and third terms in the definition (37) of  $S_{eA}$  are trace-class with

$$\begin{split} \left\| \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \left( e^{2} |A|^{2} - eB \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \right) \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{1}} \\ \lesssim \left( |c_{1}| (m_{1}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} + |c_{2}| (m_{2}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \right) \frac{\|A\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|B\|_{L^{1}}}{(m^{2} + \omega^{2})^{5/2}} \end{split}$$

The term involving  $p \cdot A + A \cdot p$  can be treated in the same way, but it is only trace-class when  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . It is not trace-class under our assumptions on A and this is the term which has been subtracted in the statement of the proposition. Fortunately, when  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$  its trace vanishes due to the invariance under complex conjugation. Namely, the operator

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{K_j(\omega)} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{K_j(\omega)}$$

is self-adjoint, so its trace is real. Applying complex conjugation we find

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{K_j(\omega)} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{K_j(\omega)} = -\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{K_j(\omega)} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{K_j(\omega)}$$

since  $\overline{p} = -p$  and  $K_j(\omega)$  and A are both real. So its trace is imaginary, and thus equal to 0.

The proof that the second order term  $T_{eA}^{(2)}(\omega)$  is trace-class under our assumptions (16) on *B* is similar and relies on the following identity:

$$T_{eA}^{(2)}(\omega) = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m_{0}^{2})^{2} \left( \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)K_{0}(\omega)^{2}} \right).$$
(43)

The third and fourth order terms  $T_{eA}^{(3)}(\omega)$  and  $T_{eA}^{(4)}(\omega)$  are somewhat easier to handle since only the first Pauli-Villars condition in (13) is necessary. For the third-order term we use

$$T_{eA}^{(3)}(\omega) = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left(m_{0}^{2} - m_{j}^{2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} \left(S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)}\right)^{3} + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} \left(S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} + \left(\frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} S_{eA}\right)^{3} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega)} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega)} \right).$$

$$(44)$$

The fourth order term is similar and this concludes the proof of Proposition 6.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Step 3: Localization. Since we will be considering slowly varying potentials, it will be useful to localize our energy to sets of fixed size  $\rho$ , where the magnetic field will be essentially constant. We introduce the Gaussian function  $G_{\rho}$  given by

$$G_{\rho}(x) := (\pi \rho)^{-\frac{3}{2}} e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{\rho^2}},$$
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} G_{\rho}(x-y)^2 \, dy = 1,$$
(45)

for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , which we interpret as a continuous partition of unity. The following is well-known.

**Lemma 7** (Localization of a trace-class operator). Let T be a trace-class selfadjoint operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$  and  $G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)$  be the multiplication operator

and recall that

by the function  $x \mapsto G_{\rho}(x-y)$ . Then  $G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)TG_{\rho}(\cdot - y)$  is also trace-class with

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr} |G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)TG_{\rho}(\cdot - y)| \, dy \le \operatorname{tr} |T| < \infty$$

and

$$\operatorname{tr} T = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr} G_{\rho}(\cdot - y) TG_{\rho}(\cdot - y) \, dy = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr} \left( G_{\rho} \tau_{-y} T \tau_y G_{\rho} \right) \, dy$$

where  $(\tau_y f)(x) = f(x-y)$  is the unitary operator which translates by  $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ . *Proof.* It is clear that  $G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)TG_{\rho}(\cdot - y)$  is trace-class since  $x \mapsto G_{\rho}(x-y)$  is bounded, hence defines a bounded operator. Now, we can diagonalize  $T = \sum_{j>1} t_j |u_j\rangle \langle u_j|$  with  $\sum_{j>1} |t_j| < \infty$  and obtain

$$G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)TG_{\rho}(\cdot - y) = \sum_{j \ge 1} t_j |G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)u_j\rangle \langle u_j G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)|$$

with the sum being convergent in the trace-class. In particular, by the triangle inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{tr} |G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)TG_{\rho}(\cdot - y)| &\leq \sum_{j\geq 1} |t_{j}| \operatorname{tr} |G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)u_{j}\rangle \langle u_{j}G_{\rho}(\cdot - y)| \\ &= \left(G_{\rho} * \sum_{j\geq 1} |t_{j}| \; |u_{j}|^{2}\right)(y). \end{aligned}$$

The rest follows from the fact that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \sum_{j \ge 1} |t_j| \ |u_j|^2 = \sum_{j \ge 1} |t_j| = \operatorname{tr} |T|.$ 

Using this lemma, we can localize the operator appearing in the parenthesis in (35) and obtain, after changing y into  $\varepsilon y$  and using the translationinvariance of  $\mathscr{P}_0 = -\Delta$ ,

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm vac}^{\rm PV}(eA_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{\varepsilon^{-3}}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^2 d\omega \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy \ f_{\omega}(eA_{\varepsilon,y})$$
(46)

with

$$A_{\varepsilon,y}(x) = \varepsilon^{-1}A(y + \varepsilon x)$$

and

$$f_{\omega}(A) = \operatorname{tr}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3},\mathbb{C}^{2})} \left\{ G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{A} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right) G_{\rho} \right\}.$$
 (47)

From (34) and Lemma 7 we also know that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^2 d\omega \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy \left| f_{\omega}(eA_{\varepsilon,y}) \right| < \infty.$$

Since the localization length  $\rho$  will not play an important role, we do not mention it in our notations.

The reason for subtracting the term with  $p \cdot A + A \cdot p$  was that it is not traceclass, although its trace vanishes when  $A \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . With the localization  $G_{\rho}$ , this operator has now become trace-class and it still has a vanishing trace, which simplifies a bit our reasoning.

**Lemma 8.** For every fixed  $\rho > 0$ , and every  $A \in H^1_{\text{div}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the operator

$$K = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \, G_\rho \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_0 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} (p \cdot A + A \cdot p) \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_0 + m_j^2 + \omega^2} G_\rho$$

is trace-class and its trace vanishes.

*Proof.* Using (42) and the Kato-Seiler-Simon inequality (39), it is easy to see that K is trace-class. The trace vanishes for the same reason as without  $G_{\rho}$ , namely  $K^* = K$  and  $\overline{K} = -K$ .

As a corollary, we immediately deduce that

$$f_{\omega}(eA_{\varepsilon,y}) = \operatorname{tr}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3},\mathbb{C}^{2})} \left\{ G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eA_{\varepsilon,y}} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right) G_{\rho} \right\}$$

$$\tag{48}$$

with the operator being trace-class under our assumptions (16) on B.

Step 4: Localized energy with unbounded potentials. Using the localization  $G_{\rho}$ , the idea is now to replace in (48) the potential  $A_{\varepsilon,y}(x) = A(y+\varepsilon x)/\varepsilon$  by the potential  $B(y) \times x/2$  of the constant field B(y), up to a small error. On the contrary to all the potentials we have considered so far, the latter has a linear growth at infinity. It is therefore necessary to extend the definition of  $f_{\omega}$  to potentials growing at infinity, which is the content of the following result.

**Proposition 9** (Uniformly bounded magnetic fields). Let  $\rho > 0$ . Consider a magnetic potential  $A \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3)$  for which  $B = \operatorname{curl} A \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and let  $\mathscr{P}_A$  be the Friedrichs extension of the corresponding Pauli operator. Then, for every  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  the operator

$$G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_A + m_j^2 + \omega^2} G_{\rho}$$

is trace-class. In particular, we can define

$$f_{\omega}(A) = \operatorname{tr}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3},\mathbb{C}^{2})} \left\{ G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{A} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} - \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{0} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \right) G_{\rho} \right\}.$$
(49)

This is a gauge-invariant functional: for any function  $\theta \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$f_{\omega}(A) = f_{\omega}(A + \nabla\theta). \tag{50}$$

**Remark 10.** Using the exponential decay of  $G_{\rho}$ , it is possible to generalize the result to any potential A for which B has a polynomial growth at infinity, but we do not discuss this further.

*Proof of Proposition 9.* The proof of Proposition 9 is based on the following observation.

**Lemma 11** (Positivity). Assume that the coefficients  $c_0 = 1$ ,  $c_1$  and  $c_2$ , and the masses  $0 < m = m_0 < m_1 < m_2$  satisfy the Pauli-Villars conditions (13). Then

$$\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j f(m_j^2) \ge 0$$

for every convex function on  $[0,\infty)$ . In particular

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} \frac{c_j}{s+m_j^2} \ge 0 \quad and \quad \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j e^{-sm_j^2} \ge 0, \quad for \ every \ s \ge 0.$$

*Proof of Lemma 11.* By convexity we have, using the Pauli-Villars condition (13),

$$f(m^2) + c_2 f(m_2^2) \ge (1 + c_2) f\left(\frac{m^2 + c_2 m_2^2}{1 + c_2}\right) = -c_1 f(m_1^2).$$

By Lemma 11 we have  $\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j (\mathscr{P}_A + m_j^2 + \omega^2)^{-1} \geq 0$ , in the sense of operators, and therefore the same is true with  $G_{\rho}$  on both sides. The trace is then always well-defined in  $[0, \infty]$  and it suffices to estimate it in order to prove that the operator is trace-class. We use (33),  $c_1 \leq 0$ , and obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{x + m_j^2 + \omega^2} = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j (m_j^2 - m^2)^2 \frac{1}{x + m_j^2 + \omega^2} \frac{1}{(x + m^2 + \omega^2)^2}$$
$$\leq \frac{c_2 (m_2^2 - m^2)^2}{m_2^2 + \omega^2} \frac{1}{(x + m^2 + \omega^2)^2},$$

hence

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_A + m_j^2 + \omega^2} \le \frac{c_2(m_2^2 - m^2)^2}{m_2^2 + \omega^2} \frac{1}{(\mathscr{P}_A + m^2 + \omega^2)^2}$$

in the sense of operators. We can multiply by  $G_{\rho}$  on both sides without changing the inequality and obtain after taking the trace

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{G_{\rho}\sum_{j=0}^{2}c_{j}\frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{A}+m_{j}^{2}+\omega^{2}}G_{\rho}\right\} \leq \frac{c_{2}(m_{2}^{2}-m^{2})^{2}}{m_{2}^{2}+\omega^{2}}\left\|G_{\rho}\frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{A}+m^{2}+\omega^{2}}\right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{2}}^{2}.$$

It is therefore sufficient to show that  $G_{\rho}(\mathscr{P}_A + m^2 + \omega^2)^{-1}$  is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator, under the assumptions of the proposition. This is the content of the following lemma.

**Lemma 12** (Magnetic Kato-Seiler-Simon-type inequality). Consider a magnetic potential  $A \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3)$  for which  $B = \operatorname{curl} A \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then we have, for every  $2 \leq p \leq \infty$  and every  $\mu > 0$ 

$$\|f(x)(\mathscr{P}_A+\mu)^{-1}\|_{\mathfrak{S}_p} \le 2^{-\frac{2}{p}}\pi^{-\frac{1}{p}}\left(1+\frac{\|B\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\mu}\right)^{\frac{2}{p}}\mu^{\frac{3}{2p}-1}\|f\|_{L^p}.$$
 (51)

*Proof.* Since  $\mathscr{P}_A \ge 0$ , we have  $\|(\mathscr{P}_A + \mu)^{-1}\| \le \mu^{-1}$  and the bound is obvious for  $p = \infty$ . For p = 2 we write

$$\frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_A + \mu} = \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_A + \mu + \|B\|_{L^{\infty}}} \times \frac{\mathscr{P}_A + \mu + \|B\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\mathscr{P}_A + \mu}$$

and use that

$$\left\|\frac{\mathscr{P}_A+\mu+\|B\|_{L^\infty}}{\mathscr{P}_A+\mu}\right\|\leq 1+\frac{\|B\|_{L^\infty}}{\mu}.$$

Therefore, it suffices to estimate the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of  $f(\mathscr{P}_A + \mu + ||B||_{L^{\infty}})^{-1}$ . Now we use the fact that the integral kernel of  $(\mathscr{P}_A + \mu + ||B||_{L^{\infty}})^{-1}$  is pointwise bounded by that of  $(-\Delta + \mu)^{-1}$ :

$$\left| (\mathscr{P}_A + \mu + \|B\|_{L^{\infty}})^{-1}(x, y) \right|_{\infty} \le \left| (-\Delta + \mu)^{-1}(x, y) \right|_{\infty}$$
 (52)

where  $|\cdot|_{\infty}$  is the sup norm of  $2 \times 2$  hermitian matrices. The proof of (52) is well known and goes as follows. First we reduce it to the similar pointwise bound on the heat kernels

$$\left|e^{-s(\mathscr{P}_A+\mu+\|B\|_{L^{\infty}})}(x,y)\right|_{\infty} \le e^{-s(-\Delta+\mu)}(x,y)$$
(53)

using the integral formula  $H^{-1}=\int_0^\infty e^{-sH}\,ds.$  Then, we use Trotter's formula

$$e^{-s(\mathscr{P}_{A}+\mu+\|B\|_{L^{\infty}})}(x,y) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( e^{-\frac{s}{n}(-i\nabla+A)^{2}+\mu} e^{-\frac{s}{n}(-\sigma \cdot B+\|B\|_{L^{\infty}})} \right)^{n} (x,y)$$
  
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{1} \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx_{n-1} \ e^{-\frac{s}{n}((-i\nabla+A)^{2}+\mu)}(x,x_{1}) \times \\ \times \ e^{-\frac{s}{n}(-\sigma \cdot B(x_{1})+\|B\|_{L^{\infty}})} e^{-\frac{s}{n}((-i\nabla+A)^{2}+\mu)}(x_{1},x_{2}) \times \cdots \\ \cdots \times \ e^{-\frac{s}{n}((-i\nabla+A)^{2}+\mu)}(x_{n-1},y) e^{-\frac{s}{n}(-\sigma \cdot B(y)+\|B\|_{L^{\infty}})}.$$
(54)

The estimate (53) follows from the diamagnetic inequality [63]

$$|e^{-\frac{s}{n}((-i\nabla+A)^2+\mu)}(x,y)|_{\infty} \le e^{-\frac{s}{n}(-\Delta+\mu)}(x,y)$$

and the fact that

$$|e^{-\frac{s}{n}(-\boldsymbol{\sigma}\cdot\boldsymbol{B}(x)+||\boldsymbol{B}||_{L^{\infty}})}|_{\infty} \leq 1,$$

since  $-\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot B(x) + \|B\|_{L^{\infty}}$  is a non-negative  $2 \times 2$  symmetric matrix for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ . We therefore conclude that

$$\begin{split} \left\| f(x)(\mathscr{P}_{A} + \mu + \|B\|_{L^{\infty}})^{-1} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{2}}^{2} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f(x)|^{2} \left| (\mathscr{P}_{A} + \mu + \|B\|_{L^{\infty}})^{-1}(x,y) \right|_{2}^{2} dx \, dy \\ &\leq 2 \left\| f(x)(-\Delta + \mu)^{-1} \right\|_{\mathfrak{S}_{2}}^{2} = 2(2\pi)^{-3} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \frac{dp}{(p^{2} + \mu)^{2}} = \frac{\|f\|_{L^{2}}^{2}}{4\pi\sqrt{\mu}} \end{split}$$

and

$$\|f(x)(\mathscr{P}_A+\mu)^{-1}\|_{\mathfrak{S}_2} \le \left(1+\frac{\|B\|_{L^{\infty}}}{\mu}\right)\frac{\|f\|_{L^2}}{2\sqrt{\pi}\mu^{1/4}},\tag{55}$$

as we wanted. The estimate for 2 follows by complex interpolation [61].

We conclude the proof of Proposition 9 by recalling the (time-independent) gauge transformation  $\mathcal{I}_{\theta}$ 

$$\mathcal{I}_{\theta}(\psi) := e^{i\theta}\psi. \tag{56}$$

This is a unitary operator which satisfies

$$\mathcal{I}_{\theta}\mathscr{P}_{A}\mathcal{I}_{\theta}^{-1} = \mathscr{P}_{A+\nabla\theta} \text{ and } \mathcal{I}_{\theta}G_{\rho}\mathcal{I}_{\theta}^{-1} = G_{\rho}.$$

Therefore, (50) follows from the invariance of the trace of the first term under conjugation by a unitary operator, and this concludes the proof of Proposition 9.  $\Box$ 

Step 5: Replacement by an almost constant potential. After these preparations we are ready to start the proof of the semi-classical limit (17). The first step is to replace  $A_{\varepsilon,y}$  by the potential  $B(y) \times x/2$ , up to a small error. We would like to express the error only in terms of the magnetic field B, up to a gradient term that will then be dropped using gauge invariance. The following simple formula is well known (see e.g. [5, Compl. D<sub>IV</sub>]).

**Lemma 13** (Fundamental theorem of calculus in Poincaré gauge). Let  $A \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3)$  be any vector field. Then we have

$$A(y+x) = \nabla_x \left( x \cdot \int_0^1 A(y+tx) \, dt \right) - x \times \int_0^1 (\operatorname{curl} A)(y+tx) \, t \, dt.$$
 (57)

Proof. Using

$$\nabla(x \cdot a) = x \times (\operatorname{curl} a) + (x \cdot \nabla)a + a,$$

we can write the right side of (57) as

$$\nabla_x \left( x \cdot \int_0^1 A(y+tx) \, dt \right) - x \times \operatorname{curl}_x \int_0^1 A(y+tx) \, dt$$
$$= \int_0^1 \left( \underbrace{t \, x \cdot \nabla A(y+tx) + A(y+tx)}_{\frac{d}{dt} t A(y+tx)} \right) dt = A(y+x).$$

The idea of the decomposition (57) is that the first gradient term can be dropped using gauge invariance, leading to a new magnetic potential

$$\tilde{A}_y(x) = -x \times \int_0^1 (\operatorname{curl} A)(y + tx) \, t \, dt \simeq B(y) \times x/2.$$

This potential does not belong to the Coulomb gauge anymore, but rather satisfies the Poincaré (also called multipolar and Fock-Schwinger) gauge condition at y

$$x \cdot A(x+y) = 0.$$

Applying formula (57) in our situation gives

$$\frac{A(y+\varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon} = \nabla_x \left( x \cdot \int_0^1 \frac{A(y+t\varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon} \, dt \right) + B(y) \times x/2 + \varepsilon \, R_{\varepsilon,y}(x) \quad (58)$$

where

$$R_{\varepsilon,y}(x) = x \times \int_0^1 \frac{B(y) - B(y + t\varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon} t \, dt$$
(59)

is an error term.

The following gives some simple properties of the error term  $R_{\varepsilon,y}$ .

**Lemma 14** (Estimates on  $R_{\varepsilon,y}$ ). Let  $\rho, \varepsilon > 0$ , and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ . Then we have for a universal constant C

$$\|R_{\varepsilon,y}(x)\|_{L^p_y(\mathbb{R}^3)} + |x| \|\operatorname{curl} R_{\varepsilon,y}(x)\|_{L^p_y(\mathbb{R}^3)} \le C|x| \min\left(|x| \|\nabla B\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}, \frac{\|B\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}}{\varepsilon}\right)$$
(60)

and

$$\|\operatorname{div} R_{\varepsilon,y}(x)\|_{L^p_y(\mathbb{R}^3)} \le C \|\nabla B\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)} |x|.$$
(61)

Proof. We have

$$|R_{\varepsilon,y}(x)| \le \frac{|x|}{2\varepsilon} \left( |B(y)| + 2\int_0^1 |B(y + t\varepsilon x)| \, t \, dt \right).$$

Integrating over y gives

$$\|R_{\varepsilon,y}(x)\|_{L^p_y(\mathbb{R}^3)} \le \frac{|x|}{\varepsilon} \|B\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}$$

On the other hand, using

$$\frac{B(y) - B(y + t\varepsilon x)}{\varepsilon} = -t \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{0}^{1} x_{j} (\partial_{j} B)(y + t\varepsilon x) \, ds,$$

and the identity

$$\int_0^1 \int_0^1 f(ts) t^2 dt \, ds = \int_0^1 \frac{1 - t^2}{2} f(t) \, dt$$

we can write

$$R_{\varepsilon,y}(x) = -x \times \int_0^1 \frac{1-t^2}{2} \sum_{j=1}^3 x_j (\partial_j B)(y+t\varepsilon x) dt$$
(62)

hence

$$||R_{\varepsilon,y}(x)||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \leq C|x|^{2} ||\nabla B||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$

Finally, we have

$$\operatorname{curl} R_{\varepsilon,y}(x) = \frac{B(y + \varepsilon x) - B(y)}{\varepsilon}, \quad \operatorname{div} R_{\varepsilon,y}(x) = x \cdot \int_0^1 \operatorname{curl} B(y + t\varepsilon x) t^2 dt$$
  
and the estimates are similar.

and the estimates are similar.

Since  $B \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we have  $|\operatorname{curl} R_{\varepsilon,y}| \leq C/\varepsilon$  and we can apply Proposition 9. The following is then an immediate consequence of (50) and (58).

**Corollary 15** (Replacing by an almost constant field). Assume that B satisfies the conditions (16) of Theorem 2. Then for any  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  and any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , we have

$$f_{\omega}(eA_{\varepsilon,y}) = f_{\omega}\left(\frac{e}{2}B(y) \times \cdot + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon,y}\right),\tag{63}$$

where we recall that  $R_{\varepsilon,y}$  is defined in (59).

Step 6: Computation for a constant field. First we discard the error term  $R_{\varepsilon,y}$  in (63) and compute the exact value of the energy. Of course, we find the localized Pauli-Villars-regulated Euler-Heisenberg energy.

**Proposition 16** (Constant field). If B is constant and  $A(x) = B \times x/2$ , then the function defined in (49) equals

$$f_{\omega}(B \times x/2) = \frac{1}{4\pi^{3/2}} \int_0^\infty e^{-s\omega^2} \left(\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j \, e^{-sm_j^2}\right) \left(s|B| \coth\left(s|B|\right) - 1\right) \frac{ds}{s^{3/2}}.$$
(64)

Note that the value does not depend on the localization parameter  $\rho > 0$ . From (64), we obtain after integrating over  $\omega$  that

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{\omega}(B \times x/2) \,\omega^2 d\omega = f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(|B|), \tag{65}$$

the Pauli-Villars-regulated Euler-Heisenberg energy defined in (18). The integral over y then gives  $\int f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(|B(y)|) dy$  as we wanted. The proof of Proposition 16 is merely a computation, explained in Section 4 below.

Step 7: Bound on the error. At this step of the proof, we have shown in (46), (63) and (64) that

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{3} \mathcal{F}_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(A_{\varepsilon}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dy \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^{2} d\omega f_{\omega}(eA_{\varepsilon,y}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dy \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^{2} d\omega f_{\omega} \left(\frac{e}{2}B(y) \times \cdot + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon,y}\right) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} f_{\text{vac}}^{\text{PV}}(|B(y)|) dy \\ &+ \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dy \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^{2} d\omega \left\{ f_{\omega} \left(\frac{e}{2}B(y) \times \cdot + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon,y}\right) - f_{\omega} \left(\frac{e}{2}B(y) \times \cdot\right) \right\} \end{split}$$

and there only remains to evaluate the error term. The difficulty is, of course, to have an estimate on the integrand that can be integrated over y and  $\omega$ . This is the content of the following result.

**Proposition 17** (Bound on the error term). Assume that B satisfies the conditions of Theorem 2. Then we have for every  $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$ 

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy \left| f_\omega \left( \frac{e}{2} B(y) \times \cdot + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon, y} \right) - f_\omega \left( \frac{e}{2} B(y) \times \cdot \right) \right| \le C \frac{\varepsilon}{(m^2 + \omega^2)^2}, \quad (66)$$

with a constant C which only depends on B, on  $\rho$  and on the  $c_j$ 's and  $m_j$ 's.

Integrating over  $\omega$  we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^2 \, d\omega \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy \left| f_\omega \left( \frac{e}{2} B(y) \times \cdot + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon, y} \right) - f_\omega \left( \frac{e}{2} B(y) \times \cdot \right) \right| \le C\varepsilon,$$

which ends the outline of the proof of Theorem 2.

The proof of Proposition 17 is the most tedious part of the proof of our main result, and it is provided later in Section 5. The next section is devoted to the proof of Proposition 16, whereas Appendix A gathers some important estimates for the resolvent of the Pauli operator with constant magnetic field.

#### 4. Computation for a constant field: proof of Proposition 16

Applying a rotation and using the invariance of  $-\Delta$  as well as the Gaussian  $G_{\rho}$ , we can always assume that B is parallel to  $e_3$ ,

$$B = (0, 0, b),$$

which we will do for the rest of the proof.

Since we have shown in Proposition 9 that the two terms are separately trace-class, we can compute their trace separately. The computation is easier if we go back to heat kernels using  $H^{-1} = \int_0^\infty e^{-sH} ds$ :

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j \frac{1}{H+m_j^2} = \int_0^\infty \left(\sum_{j=0}^2 c_j e^{-sm_j^2}\right) e^{-sH} \, ds. \tag{67}$$

We recall from Lemma 11 that  $\sum_{j=0}^{2} c_j e^{-sm_j^2} \ge 0$ . We conclude that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{G_{\rho}\sum_{j=0}^{2}\frac{c_{j}}{H+\omega^{2}+m_{j}^{2}}G_{\rho}\right\}$$
$$=\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-s\omega^{2}}\left(\sum_{j=0}^{2}c_{j}e^{-sm_{j}^{2}}\right)\operatorname{tr}\left\{G_{\rho}e^{-sH}G_{\rho}\right\}ds\geq0$$

which will be used for  $H = -\Delta$  and  $H = \mathscr{P}_{B \times x/2}$ . For the Laplacian, we have

$$\operatorname{tr} G_{\rho} e^{s\Delta} G_{\rho} = 2 \left( \int G_{\rho}^2 \right) \left( \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-sp^2} \, dp \right) = \frac{1}{4\pi^{3/2} s^{3/2}},$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\operatorname{tr}\left\{G_{\rho}\sum_{j=0}^{2}\frac{c_{j}}{-\Delta+\omega^{2}+m_{j}^{2}}G_{\rho}\right\} = \frac{1}{4\pi^{3/2}}\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-s\omega^{2}}\left(\sum_{j=0}^{2}c_{j}e^{-sm_{j}^{2}}\right)\frac{ds}{s^{3/2}}.$$

On the other hand, we recall in (82) (Appendix A) that the heat kernel of the Pauli operator with constant magnetic field  $B = b e_3$  is

$$[e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{B\times x/2}}](x,y) = \frac{b}{8\pi^{3/2}s^{\frac{1}{2}}\sinh(bs)} \times e^{-\frac{b}{4}\coth(bs)|x^{\perp}-y^{\perp}|^{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{4s}(x_{3}-y_{3})^{2}} e^{-\frac{ib}{2}x^{\perp}\times y^{\perp}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{bs} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-bs} \end{pmatrix}$$
(68)

where  $x^{\perp} = (x_1, x_2)$  and  $y^{\perp} = (y_1, y_2)$ , which gives us

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\left[e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{B\times x/2}}\right](x,y) = \frac{sb \coth(sb)}{4\pi^{3/2}s^{\frac{3}{2}}} \times e^{-\frac{b}{4}\coth(bs)|x^{\perp}-y^{\perp}|^{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{4s}(x_{3}-y_{3})^{2}} e^{-\frac{ib}{2}x^{\perp}\times y^{\perp}}$$
(69)

and therefore, the function being continuous at x = y, we deduce from [61, Thm. 2.12] that

$$\operatorname{tr} G_{\rho} e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{B \times x/2}} G_{\rho} = \frac{sb \coth(sb)}{4\pi^{3/2} s^{\frac{3}{2}}},$$

which ends the proof of Proposition 16.

#### 5. Bound on the error term: proof of Proposition 17

We follow here the same strategy as in the proof of Proposition 9, with  $\mathscr{P}_0 = -\Delta$  replaced everywhere by the Pauli operator  $\mathscr{P}_{eB(y)\times \cdot/2}$  with constant magnetic field B(y). We will use pointwise estimates on the kernel of the resolvent of  $\mathscr{P}_{eB(y)\times \cdot/2}$  which are recalled in Appendix A, that will essentially reduce the problem to the free case, up to a multiplicative constant. This method cannot be easily coupled to operators bounds, which forces us to use a 6th order expansion. In particular we will use that the operators appearing in the 6th order have a sign.

In order to simplify our notation, we introduce the Klein-Gordon operator with constant magnetic field B(y)

$$K_j(\omega, y) := \mathscr{P}_{eB(y) \times \cdot/2} + m_j^2 + \omega^2.$$

Using the resolvent expansion as in (36), we have to estimate the trace of

$$\begin{split} T(\omega, y) &= G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \left( K_{j}(\omega, y) + S_{\varepsilon, y} \right)^{-1} - K_{j}(\omega, y)^{-1} \right) G_{\rho} \\ &= G_{\rho} \sum_{n=1}^{5} (-1)^{n} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon, y} \right)^{n} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} G_{\rho} \\ &+ G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left( \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon, y} \right)^{3} \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eB(y) \times \cdot / 2 + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon, y}} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2}} \times \\ &\times \left( S_{\varepsilon, y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} \right)^{3} G_{\rho} \\ &:= \sum_{n=1}^{5} T^{(n)}(\omega, y) + T^{(6)}(\omega, y), \end{split}$$

where the operator  $S_{\varepsilon,y}$  is defined by

$$\begin{split} S_{\varepsilon,y} &:= \mathscr{P}_{eB(y) \times \cdot / 2 + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon,y}} - \mathscr{P}_{eB(y) \times \cdot / 2} \\ &= e^2 \varepsilon^2 |R_{\varepsilon,y}|^2 - e\varepsilon (\sigma \cdot p_y) (\sigma \cdot R_{\varepsilon,y}) - e\varepsilon (\sigma \cdot R_{\varepsilon,y}) (\sigma \cdot p_y) \\ &= e^2 \varepsilon^2 |R_{\varepsilon,y}|^2 - e\varepsilon (p_y \cdot R_{\varepsilon,y} + R_{\varepsilon,y} \cdot p_y) - e\varepsilon \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \operatorname{curl} R_{y,\varepsilon}, \end{split}$$

with  $p_y = p - eB(y) \times \frac{1}{2}$  the magnetic momentum. The main result of this section is the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \|T^{(n)}(\omega, y)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_1} \, dy \, \omega^2 \, d\omega \le C\varepsilon^n, \qquad 1 \le n \le 6, \tag{70}$$

where the constant depends on B, on  $\rho$  and on the  $c_j$ 's and  $m_j$ 's, which clearly ends the proof of Proposition 17.

In order to prove (70), we will use pointwise kernel estimates, and in particular the fact that when T and T' are two trace-class operators such that

$$|T(x,x')| \le T'(x,x')$$

with the kernel of T' being continuous in a neighborhood of the diagonal, then  $|\operatorname{tr}(T)| \leq \operatorname{tr}(T') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} T'(x, x) \, dx$ . Our proof will rely on the following pointwise estimates on the kernels of the resolvents of the Pauli operator with constant magnetic field, proved in Proposition 18 in Appendix A:

$$\left| K_{j}(\omega, y)^{-1}(x, x') \right| \leq C(1 + e \|B\|_{L^{\infty}}) g_{\omega}(x - x')$$
(71)

and

$$\left| p_{y} K_{j}(\omega, y)^{-1}(x, x') \right| \leq C \frac{m_{j}}{m} (1 + e^{2} \|B\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}) h_{\omega}(x - x'), \tag{72}$$

with the functions

$$g_{\omega}(x) = \left(\frac{1}{|x|} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{m^2 + \omega^2}}\right) e^{-\sqrt{m^2 + \omega^2}|x|}$$
(73)

and

$$h_{\omega}(x) = \left(\frac{1}{|x|^2} + |x|^2 + \frac{1}{m^2 + \omega^2} + m^2 + \omega^2\right) e^{-\sqrt{m^2 + \omega^2}|x|}.$$
 (74)

Note that

$$\|g_{\omega}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \leq \frac{C_{p}}{(m^{2} + \omega^{2})^{\frac{3/p-1}{2}}}, \qquad \|h_{\omega}\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \leq \frac{C_{p}}{(m^{2} + \omega^{2})^{\frac{3/p-2}{2}}}, \qquad (75)$$

for all  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . There are similar estimates for  $|x|^{\alpha}g_{\omega}$  and  $|x|^{\alpha}h_{\omega}$ , with a better decay in  $\omega$  when  $\alpha > 0$ .

Sixth order term. We start by estimating the kernel of the 6th order term  $T^{(6)}(\omega, y)$ . We are going to estimate the trace of each of the terms in the sum over j = 0, 1, 2, which involves a non-negative operator and is thus always well defined. We first use the operator bound

$$\frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eB(y)\times\cdot/2+\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon,y}} + m_j^2 + \omega^2} \le \left(1 + \frac{\mu}{m^2}\right) \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eB(y)\times\cdot/2+\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon,y}} + m_j^2 + \omega^2 + \mu}$$

as in the proof of Lemma 12, with

$$\mu := \|eB(y) + e\varepsilon \operatorname{curl} R_{\varepsilon, y}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \le 2e\|B\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}$$

where the last estimate follows from Lemma 14. We obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^2 d\omega \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy \, \|T^{(6)}(\omega, y)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_1}$$

$$\leq \left(1 + \frac{2e\|B\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)}}{m^2}\right) \sum_{j=0}^2 |c_j| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega^2 d\omega \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dy \, \operatorname{tr}\left\{T_j^{(6)}(\omega, y)\right\}$$

where

$$T_{j}^{(6)}(\omega, y) = G_{\rho} \left(\frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon, y}\right)^{3} \times \\ \times \frac{1}{\mathscr{P}_{eB(y) \times \cdot/2 + e\varepsilon R_{\varepsilon, y}} + m_{j}^{2} + \omega^{2} + \mu} \left(S_{\varepsilon, y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)}\right)^{3} G_{\rho} \ge 0.$$

We estimate the kernel of  $T_j^{(6)}(\omega,y)$  by writing

$$S_{\varepsilon,y} = e^2 \varepsilon^2 |R_{\varepsilon,y}|^2 - e\varepsilon (2p_y \cdot R_{\varepsilon,y} + i \operatorname{div} R_{\varepsilon,y}) - e\varepsilon \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \operatorname{curl} R_{y,\varepsilon},$$

for the term on the left and using  $2R_{\varepsilon,y} \cdot p_y - i \operatorname{div} R_{\varepsilon,y}$  for the term on the right. We also use the diamagnetic-type inequality (52)

$$\left| \left( \mathscr{P}_{eB(y) \times \cdot/2 + e\varepsilon_{R_{\varepsilon,y}}} + m_j^2 + \omega^2 + \mu \right)^{-1}(x, x') \right|_{\infty} \le \left| \left( -\Delta + m_j^2 + \omega^2 \right)^{-1}(x, x') \right|_{\infty} = \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 + \omega^2}|x - x'|}}{4\pi |x - x'|} \le \frac{g_{\omega}(x - x')}{4\pi}$$

for the kernel of the middle operator, as well as  $g_{\omega} \leq Ch_{\omega}$  to simplify our bounds. We find

$$|T_j^{(6)}(\omega, y)(x, x')| \le C G_\rho(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dz_1 \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dz_6$$
$$h_\omega(x - z_1) \prod_{k=1}^5 h_{\varepsilon, y}(z_k) h_\omega(z_k - z_{k+1}) h_{\varepsilon, y}(z_6) h_\omega(z_6 - x') G_\rho(x')$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} h_{\varepsilon,y}(z) &:= e\varepsilon |R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)| + e\varepsilon |\operatorname{div} R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)| + e\varepsilon |\operatorname{curl} R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)| + e^2 \varepsilon^2 |R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)|^2 \\ &\leq e\varepsilon \left(1 + e ||B||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)} |z|\right) |R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)| + e\varepsilon |\operatorname{div} R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)| + e\varepsilon |\operatorname{curl} R_{\varepsilon,y}(z)|. \end{aligned}$$

Using Lemma 14 together with the assumption that  $B, \nabla B \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for  $1 \le p \le 6$ , we obtain

$$\forall 1 \le p \le 6, \qquad \|h_{\varepsilon,y}(z)\|_{L^p_y(\mathbb{R}^3)} \le C\varepsilon(1+|z|^3). \tag{76}$$

Next we integrate over y, use Hölder's inequality and the bound (76) for p = 6. We arrive at

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |T_j^{(6)}(\omega, y)(x, x')| \, dy \le C\varepsilon^6 \, G_\rho(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dz_1 \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dz_6 \, h_\omega(x - z_1) \times \\ \times \prod_{k=1}^5 (1 + |z_k|^3) h_\omega(z_k - z_{k+1}) (1 + |z_6|^3) h_\omega(z_6 - x') G_\rho(x').$$

We can put the polynomial terms together with the functions 
$$h_{\omega}$$
 using that  

$$\prod_{k=1}^{J} (1+|z_k|^3) \le C_J \prod_{k=1}^{J-1} (1+|z_k-z_{k+1}|^3)(1+|z_J-x'|^3)(1+|x-x'|^3)(1+|x-z_1|^3)$$
(77)

and

$$(1+|x-x'|^3)G_{\rho}(x)G_{\rho}(x') = (\pi\rho)^{-3}(1+|x-x'|^3)e^{-\frac{|x+x'|^2+|x-x'|^2}{2\rho^2}} \le Ce^{-\frac{|x+x'|^2}{2\rho^2}}.$$
  
The above bound becomes

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |T_j^{(6)}(\omega, y)(x, x')| \, dy \le C\varepsilon^6 \, e^{-\frac{|x+x'|^2}{2\rho^2}} \left\{ (1+|\cdot|^3)h_\omega \right\}^{*7} (x-x')$$

where  $f^{*n}$  is the *n*-fold convolution of a function f. By Young's inequality and (75) we find

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr} T_j^{(6)}(\omega, y) \, dy \le C\varepsilon^6 \, \left\| (1+|\cdot|^3) h_\omega \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 \, \left\| (1+|\cdot|^3) h_\omega \right\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)}^5 \\ \le \frac{C\varepsilon^6}{(m^2+\omega^2)^2}.$$

Suming over j, we have proved that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \|T^{(6)}(\omega, y)\|_{\mathfrak{S}_1} \, dy \, \omega^2 \, d\omega \le C\varepsilon^6,$$

as we wanted, where the constant depends on B, on  $\rho$  and on the  $c_j$ 's and  $m_j$ 's.

The proof for the other terms is very similar, and relies on the Pauli-Villars condition (13), exactly as in the proof of Proposition 6. We only sketch it.

First order term. We write

$$-T^{(1)}(\omega, y) = G_{\rho} \bigg( \sum_{j=1}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y) K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon, y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y) K_{0}(\omega, y)} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon, y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y) K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y) K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} S_{\varepsilon, y} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} \bigg) G_{\rho}.$$

Since  $S_{\varepsilon,y}$  contains only one operator  $p_y$ , estimating the kernel of the above operators will involve one function  $h_{\omega}$  and three functions  $g_{\omega}$ . The argument is exactly the same as before, using this time  $\|h_{\varepsilon,y}(z)\|_{L^1_y(\mathbb{R}^3)}$ , with the final bound

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |T^{(1)}(\omega, y)(x, x')| \, dy \le C \,\varepsilon \, e^{-\frac{|x+x'|^2}{2\rho^2}} \{ (1+|\cdot|^3)h_\omega \} * \{ (1+|\cdot|^3)g_\omega \}^{*3}(x-x')$$

and thus

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left| \operatorname{tr} T^{(1)}(\omega, y) \right| dy \\
\leq C \varepsilon \left\| (1 + |\cdot|^{3}) h_{\omega} \right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \left\| (1 + |\cdot|^{3}) g_{\omega} \right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \left\| (1 + |\cdot|^{3}) g_{\omega} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} \\
\leq C \frac{\varepsilon}{(m^{2} + \omega^{2})^{2}}$$

which proves (70) for n = 1.

Second order term. For the second order term, we use as in (43)

$$T^{(2)}(\omega, y) = \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} (m_{j}^{2} - m_{0}^{2})^{2} \times \\ \times G_{\rho} \Big( \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)} \\ + \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega, y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega, y)K_{0}(\omega, y)^{2}} \Big) G_{\rho}$$
(78)

and apply the same argument. There are two functions  $h_{\omega}$ , three functions  $g_{\omega}$ , and the  $L^2_y$  norm of  $h_{\varepsilon,y}$ . We get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left| \operatorname{tr} T^{(2)}(\omega, y) \right| dy \\ &\leq C \varepsilon^2 \left\| (1+|\cdot|^3) h_\omega \right\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 \left\| (1+|\cdot|^3) g_\omega \right\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)} \left\| (1+|\cdot|^3) g_\omega \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 \\ &\leq C \frac{\varepsilon^2}{(m^2+\omega^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}}. \end{split}$$

*Third, fourth and fifth order terms.* For the other terms we only use the first Pauli-Villars condition, in order to simplify the argument. For instance, we write

$$\begin{split} -T^{(3)}(\omega,y) = &G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} \left(\frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega,y)} S_{\varepsilon,y}\right)^{3} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega,y)} G_{\rho} \\ = &G_{\rho} \sum_{j=0}^{2} c_{j} (m^{2} - m_{j}^{2}) \left\{ \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y) K_{j}(\omega,y)} \left(S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega,y)}\right)^{3} \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y) K_{j}(\omega,y)} \left(S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega,y)}\right)^{2} \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y)} S_{\varepsilon,y}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y) K_{j}(\omega,y)} S_{\varepsilon,y} \frac{1}{K_{j}(\omega,y)} \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y)} S_{\varepsilon,y}\right)^{3} \frac{1}{K_{0}(\omega,y) K_{j}(\omega,y)} \right\} G_{\rho} \end{split}$$

and estimate its kernel as before. There are three functions  $h_{\omega}$ , two functions  $g_{\omega}$ , and the  $L_y^3$  norm of  $h_{\varepsilon,y}$ . We get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left| \operatorname{tr} T^{(3)}(\omega, y) \right| dy \\ &\leq C \varepsilon^3 \left\| (1 + |\cdot|^3) h_\omega \right\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)}^3 \left\| (1 + |\cdot|^3) g_\omega \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)}^2 \leq C \frac{\varepsilon^3}{(m^2 + \omega^2)^2}. \end{split}$$

The argument for the fourth and fifth order term is exactly the same. This ends the proof of Proposition 17.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## Appendix A. The Pauli operator with constant magnetic field

In this appendix, we gather some useful properties of the Pauli operator with constant magnetic field  $B \in \mathbb{R}^3$ 

$$\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2} = \left(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \left(-i\nabla - B \times x/2\right)\right)^2.$$
(79)

The Pauli operator naturally splits into a two-dimensional Pauli operator in the plane orthogonal to B and a Laplacian in the direction of B. Here as in the sequel, we denote by  $x^{\perp}$  the projection of any vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$  on this plane.

In the text we need the following pointwise estimates on the kernel of the resolvent of  $\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2}$  as well as on  $(-i\partial_j - (B \times x)_j/2)$  times the resolvent.

**Proposition 18** (Pointwise estimates for a constant magnetic field). Let  $B \in \mathbb{R}^3$  be a constant magnetic field. Then we have the pointwise estimates

$$\left| \left( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \right)^{-1}(x, y) \right|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{4\pi} \left( \frac{1}{|x - y|} + \frac{2|B|}{\mu} \right) e^{-\mu|x - y|} \tag{80}$$

and

$$\left| \left( -i\partial_j - (B \times x)_j/2 \right) \left( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \right)^{-1} (x, y) \right|_{\infty} \\ \leq \left( \frac{|B|}{2\pi} + \frac{2}{\pi |x - y|^2} + \frac{2\mu}{\pi |x - y|} + \frac{5|B|^2}{4\pi \mu} |x^{\perp} - y^{\perp}| \right) e^{-\mu |x - y|} \quad (81)$$

for every  $\mu > 0$  and j = 1, 2, 3, where  $|M|_{\infty} = \sup ||x||^{-1} ||Mx||$  is the sup norm of  $2 \times 2$  matrices.

Similar estimates were derived in [19, Lemma A.10]. We have already shown a pointwise bound in Lemma 12 for the resolvent (80), but the estimate (81) requires a bit more work.

*Proof.* For the proof of the proposition we can assume, after applying a suitable rotation, that  $B = |B|e_3$  and then rewrite

$$\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2} = -(\partial_1 + i|B|x_2/2)^2 - (\partial_2 - i|B|x_1/2)^2 - \partial_3^2 - |B|\sigma_3.$$

Next we express the resolvent using the heat kernel as follows

$$\left(\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2} + \mu^2\right)^{-1}(x,y) = \int_0^\infty e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2}}(x,y)e^{-s\mu^2}\,ds.$$

Note that the operators  $|B|\sigma_3$  and  $\partial_3^2$  commute with each other, as well as with the first two terms. Hence

$$e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2}}(x,y)$$
  
=  $e^{s(\partial_1+i|B|x_2/2)^2 + s(\partial_2-i|B|x_1/2)^2}(x^{\perp},y^{\perp})\frac{e^{-\frac{(x_3-y_3)^2}{4s}}}{2\sqrt{\pi s}}\begin{pmatrix}e^{|B|s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-|B|s}\end{pmatrix}$ 

with  $x^{\perp} = (x_1, x_2)$ . The kernel of the two-dimensional Pauli operator is

$$e^{s(\partial_1 + i|B|x_2/2)^2 + s(\partial_2 - i|B|x_1/2)^2} (x^{\perp}, y^{\perp}) \\= \frac{|B|}{4\pi \sinh(|B|s)} e^{-\frac{|B|}{4} \coth(|B|s)|x^{\perp} - y^{\perp}|^2} e^{-\frac{i|B|}{2}x^{\perp} \times y^{\perp}}$$

(see e.g. [60, Chapter 15]). As a consequence, we find

$$e^{-s\mathscr{P}_{B\times \cdot/2}}(x,y) = \frac{|B|}{8\pi^{3/2}\sqrt{s}\sinh(|B|s)}e^{-\frac{|B|}{4}\coth(|B|s)|x^{\perp}-y^{\perp}|^{2}} \times e^{-\frac{i|B|}{2}x^{\perp}\times y^{\perp}}e^{-\frac{(x_{3}-y_{3})^{2}}{4s}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{|B|s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-|B|s} \end{pmatrix}$$
(82)

and

$$\left(\mathscr{P}_{B\times\cdot/2}+\mu^2\right)^{-1}(x,y) = \frac{e^{-\frac{i|B|}{2}x^{\perp}\times y^{\perp}}}{8\pi^{3/2}} \int_0^\infty \frac{|B|}{\sqrt{s}\sinh(|B|s)} \begin{pmatrix} e^{|B|s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-|B|s} \end{pmatrix} \times e^{-\frac{|B|}{4}\coth(|B|s)|x^{\perp}-y^{\perp}|^2} e^{-\frac{(x_3-y_3)^2}{4s}} e^{-s\mu^2} \, ds. \tag{83}$$

In order to bound this quantity, we split the domain of integration into two pieces. When  $|B|s \leq 1$ , we use the inequalities  $|B|s \leq \sinh(|B|s)$ ,  $|B|s \coth(|B|s) \geq 1$  and  $\exp(|B|s) \leq 1 + (e-1)s|B| \leq 1 + 4s|B|$ . When  $|B|s \geq 1$ , we also use the inequality  $|B|s \coth(|B|s) \geq 1$ , as well as the bound  $\exp(|B|s) \leq 4\sinh(|B|s)$ . This gives

$$\begin{split} \left| \left( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \right)^{-1}(x,y) \right|_{\infty} \\ & \leq \int_0^{\frac{1}{|B|}} \frac{ds}{(4\pi s)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-s\mu^2} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4s}} + \frac{|B|}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{ds}{\sqrt{4\pi s}} e^{-s\mu^2} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4t}}. \end{split}$$

It then remains to recall the following formulae for the kernels of the resolvent of the one-dimensional and three-dimensional Laplace operators

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{\sqrt{4\pi s}} e^{-\mu^{2}s} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{4s}} = \frac{e^{-\mu r}}{2\mu},$$
(84)

respectively,

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{ds}{(4\pi s)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-\mu^2 s} e^{-\frac{r^2}{4s}} = \frac{e^{-\mu r}}{4\pi r},\tag{85}$$

in order to obtain the estimate (80).

Concerning (81), we first derive from (83) that

$$\begin{split} \left[ (-i\partial_1 + |B|x_2) \left( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \right)^{-1} \right] (x,y) \\ &= \frac{|B|^2}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-\frac{i|B|}{2}x^\perp \times y^\perp} \int_0^\infty e^{-\frac{|B|}{4} \coth(|B|s)|x^\perp - y^\perp|^2} e^{-\frac{(x_3 - y_3)^2}{4s}} \times \\ & \times \begin{pmatrix} e^{|B|s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-|B|s} \end{pmatrix} \left( x_2 - y_2 + i(x_1 - y_1) \coth(|B|s) \right) \frac{e^{-\mu^2 s} \, ds}{s^{\frac{1}{2}} \sinh(|B|s)} \end{split}$$

Arguing as in the proof of (80), and applying the inequalities  $|B|s \exp(|B|s) \cosh(|B|s) \le 8$  for  $|B|s \le 1$ , respectively  $\coth(|B|s) \le 4$  for  $|B|s \ge 1$ , we are led to the estimate

$$\begin{split} \left| \left[ (-i\partial_1 + |B|x_2) \left( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \right)^{-1} \right] (x,y) \right|_{\infty} \\ & \leq |x^{\perp} - y^{\perp}| \left( 2|B| \int_0^\infty \frac{ds}{(4\pi s)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-\mu^2 s} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4s}} \\ & + 16\pi \int_0^\infty \frac{ds}{(4\pi s)^{\frac{5}{2}}} e^{-\mu^2 s} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4s}} + \frac{5|B|^2}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{ds}{\sqrt{4\pi s}} e^{-\mu^2 s} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4s}} \Big). \end{split}$$

Inequality (81) then follows from (84), (85), as well as the identity

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{ds}{(4\pi s)^{\frac{5}{2}}} e^{-\mu^2 s} e^{-\frac{r^2}{4s}} = \frac{e^{-\mu r}}{8\pi^2 r^2} \Big(\frac{1}{r} + \mu\Big),$$

which can be derived from (84) and (85) by integrating by parts.

Finally, the kernels of the two other operators are given by

$$\begin{split} \left[ (-i\partial_2 - |B|x_1) \left( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \right)^{-1} \right] (x,y) \\ &= \frac{|B|^2}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-\frac{i|B|}{2}x^\perp \times y^\perp} \int_0^\infty e^{-\frac{|B|}{4} \coth(|B|s)|x^\perp - y^\perp|^2} e^{-\frac{(x_3 - y_3)^2}{4s}} \times \\ & \times \begin{pmatrix} e^{|B|s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-|B|s} \end{pmatrix} \left( y_1 - x_1 + i(x_2 - y_2) \coth(bt) \right) \frac{e^{-\mu^2 s} \, ds}{s^{\frac{1}{2}} \sinh(|B|s)} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \big[ (-i\partial_3) \big( \mathscr{P}_{B \times \cdot/2} + \mu^2 \big)^{-1} \big] (x,y) \\ &= (y_3 - x_3) \frac{e^{-\frac{i|B|}{2}x^\perp \times y^\perp}}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int_0^\infty e^{-\frac{|B|}{4} \coth(|B|s)|x^\perp - y^\perp|^2} e^{-\frac{(x_3 - y_3)^2}{4s}} \times \\ & \times \begin{pmatrix} e^{|B|s} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-|B|s} \end{pmatrix} \frac{|B|e^{-s\mu^2} \, ds}{s^{\frac{3}{2}} \sinh(|B|s)}. \end{split}$$

and the proof of (81) for j = 2, 3 is similar. This completes the proof of Proposition 18.

Acknowledgements. The authors thank Jürg Fröhlich for mentioning the work of Haba. M.L. and É.S. acknowledge support from the French Ministry of Research (Grant ANR-10-0101). M.L. acknowledges support from the European Research Council under the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013 Grant Agreement MNIQS 258023).

#### References

- S. L. ADLER, Photon splitting and photon dispersion in a strong magnetic field, Ann. Phys., 67 (1971), pp. 599 - 647.
- [2] M. BARING AND A. HARDING, Photon splitting and pair creation in highly magnetized pulsars, Astrophys. J., 547 (2001).
- [3] D. L. BURKE, R. C. FIELD, G. HORTON-SMITH, J. E. SPENCER, D. WALZ, S. C. BERRIDGE, W. M. BUGG, K. SHMAKOV, A. W. WEIDEMANN, C. BULA, K. T. MCDONALD, E. J. PREBYS, C. BAMBER, S. J. BOEGE, T. KOFFAS, T. KOT-SEROGLOU, A. C. MELISSINOS, D. D. MEYERHOFER, D. A. REIS, AND W. RAGG, *Positron Production in Multiphoton Light-by-Light Scattering*, Phys. Rev. Lett., 79 (1997), pp. 1626–1629.
- [4] S. CHADHA AND P. OLESEN, On Borel singularities in quantum field theory, Phys. Lett. B, 72 (1977), pp. 87 – 90.
- [5] C. COHEN-TANNOUDJI, J. DUPONT-ROC, AND G. GRYNBERG, Photons and Atoms: Introduction to Quantum Electrodynamics, Wiley, 1997.
- [6] D. CONSTANTINESCU, Vacuum polarization in magnetic field, Nuclear Physics B, 36 (1972), pp. 121 – 129.
- [7] V. DENISOV AND S. SVERTILOV, Vacuum nonlinear electrodynamics curvature of photon trajectories in pulsars and magnetars, A&A, 399 (2003), pp. L39–L42.
- [8] P. DIRAC, The quantum theory of the electron, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 117 (1928), pp. 610–624.
- [9] , The quantum theory of the electron. II, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 118 (1928), pp. 351–361.
- [10] \_\_\_\_\_, A theory of electrons and protons, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 126 (1930), pp. 360–365.
- [11] \_\_\_\_\_, Discussion of the infinite distribution of electrons in the theory of the positron, Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc., 30 (1934), pp. 150–163.
- [12] , Théorie du positron, vol. XXV of Solvay Report, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1934, pp. 203–212.
- [13] W. DITTRICH AND H. GIES, Probing the Quantum Vacuum: Perturbative Effective Action Approach in Quantum Electrodynamics and its Application, vol. 166 of Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2000.
- [14] G. V. DUNNE, Heisenberg-Euler effective Lagrangians: Basics and extensions, vol. From Fields to Strings: Circumnavigating Theoretical Physics, Part 3, World Scientific, 2012, ch. 14, pp. 445–522. Ian Kogan Memorial Collection.
- [15] G. V. DUNNE, The Heisenberg-Euler effective action: 75 years on, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, 27 (2012), p. 1260004.
- [16] L. ERDÖS, Dia- and paramagnetism for nonhomogeneous magnetic fields, J. Math. Phys., 38 (1997), pp. 1289–1317.
- [17] L. ERDÖS AND J.-P. SOLOVEJ, Semiclassical eigenvalue estimates for the Pauli operator with strong non-homogeneous magnetic fields. II. Leading order asymptotic estimates, Commun. Math. Phys., 188 (1997), pp. 599–656.
- [18] —, Semiclassical eigenvalue estimates for the Pauli operator with strong nonhomogeneous magnetic fields. I. Nonasymptotic Lieb-Thirring-type estimate, Duke Math. J., 96 (1999), pp. 127–173.
- [19] \_\_\_\_\_, Uniform Lieb-Thirring inequality for the three-dimensional Pauli operator with a strong non-homogeneous magnetic field, Ann. Henri Poincaré, 5 (2004), pp. 671–741.
- [20] M. ESTEBAN, M. LEWIN, AND E. SÉRÉ, Variational methods in relativistic quantum mechanics, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 45 (2008), pp. 535–593.
- [21] H. EULER AND B. KOCKEL, Über die Streuung von Licht an Licht nach der Diracschen Theorie, Naturwissenschaften, 23 (1935), pp. 246–247.
- [22] X. FAN, S. KAMIOKA, T. INADA, T. YAMAZAKI, T. NAMBA, S. ASAI, J. OMACHI, K. YOSHIOKA, M. KUWATA-GONOKAMI, A. MATSUO, K. KAWAGUCHI, K. KINDO, AND H. NOJIRI, *The OVAL experiment: A new experiment to measure vacuum magnetic birefringence using high repetition pulsed magnets*, ArXiv e-prints, (2017).

- [23] S. FOURNAIS, On the semiclassical asymptotics of the current and magnetic moment of a non-interacting electron gas at zero temperature in a strong constant magnetic field, Ann. Henri Poincaré, 2 (2001), pp. 1189–1212.
- [24] —, Semiclassics of the quantum current in a strong constant magnetic field, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 26 (2001), pp. 1427–1496.
- [25] S. FOURNAIS, Semiclassics of the quantum current in very strong magnetic fields, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 52 (2002), pp. 1901–1945.
- [26] I. FUSHIKI, E. GUDMUNDSSON, C. PETHICK, AND J. YNGVASON, Matter in a magnetic field in the Thomas-Fermi and related theories, Ann. Physics, 216 (1992), pp. 29– 72.
- [27] P. GRAVEJAT, C. HAINZL, M. LEWIN, AND E. SÉRÉ, Two Hartree-Fock models for the vacuum polarization, in Journées Équations aux Dérivées Partielles, 2012. Exp. No. IV, 31 p.
- [28] \_\_\_\_\_, Construction of the Pauli-Villars-regulated Dirac vacuum in electromagnetic fields, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 208 (2013), pp. 603–665.
- [29] P. GRAVEJAT, M. LEWIN, AND E. SÉRÉ, Ground state and charge renormalization in a nonlinear model of relativistic atoms, Commun. Math. Phys., 286 (2009), pp. 179– 215.
- [30] \_\_\_\_\_, Renormalization and asymptotic expansion of Dirac's polarized vacuum, Commun. Math. Phys., 306 (2011), pp. 1–33.
- [31] W. GREINER AND J. REINHARDT, Quantum electrodynamics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Fourth ed., 2009. Translated from the German.
- [32] G.'T HOOFT AND M. VELTMAN, Regularization and renormalization of gauge fields, Nuclear Physics B, 44 (1972), pp. 189–213.
- [33] Z. HABA, Behavior in strong fields of Euclidean gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D, 26 (1982), pp. 3506-3516.
- [34] \_\_\_\_\_, Behavior in strong fields of Euclidean gauge theories. II, Phys. Rev. D, 29 (1984), pp. 1718–1743.
- [35] C. HAINZL, M. LEWIN, AND E. SÉRÉ, Self-consistent solution for the polarized vacuum in a no-photon QED model, J. Phys. A, Math. Gen., 38 (2005), pp. 4483–4499.
- [36] C. HAINZL, M. LEWIN, AND J.-P. SOLOVEJ, The mean-field approximation in quantum electrodynamics. The no-photon case, Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 60 (2007), pp. 546–596.
- [37] C. HAINZL AND H. SIEDENTOP, Non-perturbative mass and charge renormalization in relativistic no-photon quantum electrodynamics, Commun. Math. Phys., 243 (2003), pp. 241–260.
- [38] W. HEISENBERG AND H. EULER, Folgerungen aus der Diracschen Theorie des Positrons, Zts. f. Phys., 98 (1936), pp. 714–732.
- [39] B. HELFFER, Y. KORDYUKOV, N. RAYMOND, AND S. V. NGOC, Magnetic Wells in Dimension Three, ArXiv e-prints, (2015).
- [40] U. D. JENTSCHURA, H. GIES, S. R. VALLURI, D. R. LAMM, AND E. J. WENIGER, *Qed effective action revisited*, Can. J. Phys., 80 (2002), pp. 267–284.
- [41] R. KARPLUS AND M. NEUMAN, Non-linear interactions between electromagnetic fields, Phys. Rev., 80 (1950), pp. 380–385.
- [42] M. K.-H. KIESSLING, Electromagnetic field theory without divergence problems. I. The Born legacy, J. Statist. Phys., 116 (2004), pp. 1057–1122.
- [43] —, Electromagnetic field theory without divergence problems. II. A least invasively quantized theory, J. Statist. Phys., 116 (2004), pp. 1123–1159.
- [44] J. J. KLEIN AND B. P. NIGAM, Birefringence of the vacuum, Phys. Rev., 135 (1964), pp. B1279–B1280.
- [45] J. LAMPART AND M. LEWIN, Semi-classical Dirac vacuum polarisation in a scalar field, ArXiv e-prints, (2015).
- [46] L. LANDAU, On the quantum theory of fields. Bohr Volume, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1955. Reprinted in Collected papers of L.D. Landau. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1965.
- [47] M. LEWIN, A nonlinear variational problem in relativistic quantum mechanics, in Proceedings of the 6th European Congress of Mathematics, Krakow (Poland), July

2012, R. Latala, A. Rucinski, P. Strzelecki, J. Swiatkowski, D. Wrzosek, and P. Za-krzewski, eds., EMS, 2014.

- [48] E. LIEB, J.-P. SOLOVEJ, AND J. YNGVASON, Asymptotics of heavy atoms in high magnetic fields. II. Semiclassical regions, Commun. Math. Phys., 161 (1994), pp. 77– 124.
- [49] E. H. LIEB, The classical limit of quantum spin systems, Comm. Math. Phys., 31 (1973), pp. 327–340.
- [50] E. H. LIEB, Thomas-Fermi and related theories of atoms and molecules, Rev. Mod. Phys., 53 (1981), pp. 603–641.
- [51] M. MARKLUND, G. BRODIN, AND L. STENFLO, Electromagnetic wave collapse in a radiation background, Phys. Rev. Lett., 91 (2003), p. 163601.
- [52] J. MCKENNA AND P. M. PLATZMAN, Nonlinear interaction of light in a vacuum, Phys. Rev., 129 (1963), pp. 2354–2360.
- [53] D. MELROSE AND R. STONEHAM, Vacuum polarization and photon propagation in a magnetic field, Il Nuovo Cimento A, 32 (1976), pp. 435–447.
- [54] R. P. MIGNANI, V. TESTA, D. GONZÁLEZ CANIULEF, R. TAVERNA, R. TUROLLA, S. ZANE, AND K. WU, Evidence for vacuum birefringence from the first opticalpolarimetry measurement of the isolated neutron star RX J1856.5-3754, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 465 (2017), p. 492.
- [55] A. MINGUZZI, Non-linear effects in the vacuum polarization, Il Nuovo Cimento, 4 (1956), pp. 476–486.
- [56] G. A. MOUROU, T. TAJIMA, AND S. V. BULANOV, Optics in the relativistic regime, Rev. Mod. Phys., 78 (2006), pp. 309–371.
- [57] W. PAULI AND F. VILLARS, On the invariant regularization in relativistic quantum theory, Rev. Modern Phys., 21 (1949), pp. 434–444.
- [58] M. D. SCHWARTZ, Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model, Cambridge University Press, Mar. 2014.
- [59] J. SCHWINGER, On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization, Phys. Rev., 82 (1951), pp. 664–679.
- [60] B. SIMON, Functional integration and quantum physics, vol. 86 of Pure and Applied Mathematics, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- [61] \_\_\_\_\_, Trace ideals and their applications, vol. 35 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Notes Series, Cambridge University Press, 1979.
- [62] B. SIMON, The classical limit of quantum partition functions, Comm. Math. Phys., 71 (1980), pp. 247–276.
- [63] —, Functional integration and quantum physics, AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, second ed., 2005.
- [64] A. V. SOBOLEV, Quasi-classical asymptotics of local Riesz means for the Schrödinger operator in a moderate magnetic field, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor., 62 (1995), pp. 325–360.
- [65] B. THALLER, The Dirac equation, Texts and Monographs in Physics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [66] W.-Y. TSAI AND T. ERBER, Photon pair creation in intense magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. D, 10 (1974), pp. 492–499.
- [67] —, Propagation of photons in homogeneous magnetic fields: Index of refraction, Phys. Rev. D, 12 (1975), pp. 1132–1137.
- [68] V. WEISSKOPF, Über die Elektrodynamik des Vakuums auf Grund der Quantentheorie des Elektrons, Dan. Mat. Fys. Medd., 16 (1936), pp. 1–39.
- [69] K. WILSON, Confinement of quarks, Phys. Rev. D, 10 (1974), pp. 2445–2459.
- [70] J. YNGVASON, Thomas-Fermi theory for matter in a magnetic field as a limit of quantum mechanics, Lett. Math. Phys., 22 (1991), pp. 107–117.

UNIVERSITÉ DE CERGY-PONTOISE, LABORATOIRE DE MATHÉMATIQUES (UMR CNRS 8088), F-95302 CERGY-PONTOISE CEDEX, FRANCE. *E-mail address*: philippe.gravejat@u-cergy.fr

CNRS & UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-DAUPHINE, PSL RESEARCH UNIVERSITY, CEREMADE (UMR CNRS 7534), 75016 PARIS, FRANCE.

E-mail address: Mathieu.Lewin@math.cnrs.fr

Université Paris-Dauphine, PSL Research University, CEREMADE (UMR CNRS 7534), 75016 Paris, France.

 $E\text{-}mail\ address:\ \texttt{sere@ceremade.dauphine.fr}$